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          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Welcome to

          3  today's oversight hearing on hepatitis virus in New

          4  York City, defining the problem and evaluating the

          5  City's response.

          6                 We will also vote on Resolution 745,

          7  calling on the United States Congress to increase

          8  funds for research to help find cures and treatment

          9  for hepatitis A, B and C.

         10                 Last month this Committee held its

         11  first hearing on the hepatitis virus. As you may

         12  know, hepatitis is a highly contagious virus that

         13  attacks the liver and can cause permanent damage or

         14  death. Experts in the field inform us on the

         15  seriousness of the situation in the country and in

         16  the City. As a result, I instructed my staff to

         17  introduce resolution 745 because there is a need to

         18  increase federal fundings for hepatitis.

         19                 Last month also, because of the

         20  shortness of the notification, the Commissioner of

         21  the Department of Health was not able to join us and

         22  this hearing is a follow-up in order to allow

         23  Commissioner Neal Cohen, the Commissioner of the

         24  Department of Health, to come before us and actually

         25  walk us through and to hear from him on the efforts
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          2  that the Administration has taken to combat this

          3  virus.

          4                 Let me, before I call upon

          5  Commissioner Neal Cohen, introduce my colleague

          6  Council Member Phil Reed from Manhattan and the

          7  Bronx, a member of the Committee, and there will be

          8  other members joining us, and somewhere along the

          9  line when we have a forum we will then also vote on

         10  Resolution 745.

         11                 Commissioner Cohen, it is always good

         12  to see you. Good morning, sir. And for the record,

         13  ladies and gentlemen, the Commissioner of the

         14  Department of Health, Commissioner Neal Cohen.

         15                 Would you identify yourself for the

         16  record and those colleagues that are with you. And I

         17  see you have a prepared statement, and feel free,

         18  sir.

         19                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Thank you.

         20                 Good morning, Councilman. Councilman

         21  Reed, too. I am Neal Cohen, the Commissioner of the

         22  Department of Health. To my right is Dr. Benjamin

         23  Mojica, Deputy Commissioner for Disease

         24  Intervention, and to his right is Dr. Isaac

         25  Weisspus, Deputy Commissioner for the Bureau of
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          2  Sexually Transmitted Disease Programs.

          3                 I would like to thank the City

          4  Council's Committee on Health for this opportunity

          5  to testify at this oversight hearing about

          6  hepatitis, and about the Health Department's

          7  activities with regard to hepatitis.

          8                 As you I believe know, hepatitis

          9  means an inflammation of the liver, and there are

         10  many causes of hepatitis. The hepatitis most

         11  commonly refers to a group of diseases that

         12  primarily affect the liver that are caused by

         13  viruses. I shall be speaking this morning about

         14  Hepatitis A, Hepatitis B and Hepatitis C, the three

         15  viral hepatitis diseases of overriding concern in

         16  New York City.

         17                 The New York City Health Code

         18  requires that diagnosed cases of Hepatitis A, B and

         19  C be reported to the Health Department by

         20  clinicians, hospitals and laboratories.

         21                 While these three forms of hepatitis

         22  are all viral diseases, all affect the liver, and in

         23  some ways resemble one another in the symptoms that

         24  they induce, they constitute three very distinct

         25  diseases with different causes and modes of
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          2  infection.

          3                 The course of disease and diagnostic

          4  criteria are different for each, as are

          5  methodologies for prevention and control. Thus,

          6  while the three diseases have been historically

          7  categorized together, each has a distinct medical

          8  and public health significance.

          9                 For the sake of time I have admitted

         10  from my testimony descriptions of each disease that

         11  Committee members have heard in the previous hearing

         12  on hepatitis, and that already appear in background

         13  materials available to the Committee. I will be

         14  happy to clarify any questions on these diseases

         15  that may arise.

         16                 Hepatitis A is generally spread by

         17  the oral-fecal route, is generally a mild illness of

         18  one to two weeks duration. Prevention of

         19  person-to-person spread is accomplished through

         20  careful hand-washing after using the toilet and

         21  changing diapers and by avoiding sexual practices

         22  that result in hand or mouth exposure to feces.

         23                 When a patient has an acute or

         24  recently acquired Hepatitis A, a shot of immune

         25  globulin for his or her close household or personal
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          2  contacts is generally recommended, so as to minimize

          3  the contracts risk of contracting Hepatitis A.

          4                 There were 1,008 cases of Hepatitis A

          5  reported among City residents in 1995, 671 in 1996

          6  and 920 in 1997.

          7                 Upon receiving reports of Hepatitis A

          8  cases in individuals in certain categories, where

          9  the consequences of spread are great, for example,

         10  among food handlers or day care attendees, our

         11  Bureau of Communicable Diseases conducts an

         12  investigation.

         13                 In such circumstances, close contacts

         14  are identified and offered prophylaxis, or

         15  preventive therapy, with immune globulin.

         16                 A vaccine for Hepatitis A became

         17  available in 1995. The federal Centers for Disease

         18  Control and Prevention - the CDC - recommends it for

         19  travelers to countries where the disease rate is

         20  high, for those living where the disease rate is

         21  high, for people in certain outbreak settings, for

         22  laboratory workers at risk of exposure, for sexually

         23  active, homosexual and bisexual men, and for those

         24  with chronic liver disease as well as for injecting

         25  drug users.
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          2                 The advent of a Hepatitis A vaccine

          3  provided new opportunities for Hepatitis A

          4  prevention. Accordingly in 1997, our Bureau of

          5  Communicable Diseases investigated all Hepatitis A

          6  reports to determine potential high risk target

          7  groups for vaccination. Investigation revealed an

          8  increase in the rate of Hepatitis A among 20 to

          9  49-year-old men. Furthermore, the overall incidence

         10  rate of Hepatitis A among adult males in this age

         11  group was 37 for 100,000. The two particular

         12  neighborhoods, Chelsea and the West Village, had a

         13  much higher average incidence rate of 233 per

         14  100,000 people. Epidemiological investigations

         15  reveal that most cases reported being gay or

         16  bisexual.

         17                 Thus, our year-long investigation

         18  identified men who have sex with men as a high risk

         19  group for New York City. High rates were also

         20  observed in the Union Square, Lower East Side

         21  neighborhoods, with the rate of 107 per 100,000, the

         22  upper west side, 72 per 100,000, and Brooklyn

         23  Heights Park Slope areas, 53 per 100,000 in 1997.

         24                 To address the Hepatitis A outbreak

         25  in this risk group, several Health Department
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          2  offices and bureaus, including Communicable

          3  Diseases, HIV Prevention Services, Sexually

          4  Transmitted Diseases, Immunizations and External

          5  Affairs jointly developed an education and

          6  vaccination outreach program targeting men who have

          7  sex with men.

          8                 We purchased Hepatitis A vaccine and

          9  offered it at no charge at two Manhattan clinics

         10  that served large numbers of gay and bisexual men.

         11                 In addition, we surveyed gay men at

         12  popular social venues to identify their knowledge,

         13  attitudes and practices regarding Hepatitis A risk

         14  behaviors.

         15                 Finally, we issued repeat alerts to

         16  clinicians and others in the medical community

         17  regarding this outbreak and the need to offer

         18  vaccines to patients reporting gay or bisexual

         19  behavior.

         20                 While the vaccine campaign is

         21  ongoing, we have already seen Hepatitis A rates drop

         22  significantly in 1998. And among adult males in

         23  Chelsea, the Hepatitis A case rate has decreased by

         24  65 percent, from about 275 cases per 100,000 in

         25  1997, to about 90 per 100,000 in 1998.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            10

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 Hepatitis B is an infection of the

          3  liver caused by a virus in a different family from

          4  that of the Hepatitis A virus. While acute Hepatitis

          5  B can be severe, and occasionally fatal, there are

          6  often no symptoms during the acute infection, and

          7  thus most people with acute Hepatitis B infection

          8  may not be clinically recognized.

          9                 The Hepatitis B virus is spread by a

         10  direct contact with blood and blood products,

         11  saliva, semen or vaginal fluids. For example, via

         12  shared drug injection equipment, transfusions and

         13  blood dialysis.

         14                 Thus, those at high risk for

         15  Hepatitis B, include injecting drug users, health

         16  care and public safety workers who may incur

         17  accidental exposures to infected blood, anyone

         18  having sexual contact with an infected partner, men

         19  who have sex with men, particularly with multiple

         20  partners, anyone having had sex with a prostitute,

         21  or with more than one sexual partner in the previous

         22  six months, inmates of long-term correctional

         23  facilities, travelers who stay for more than six

         24  months in areas where Hepatitis C is endemic,

         25  patient and staff in developmentally disabled or
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          2  custodial care settings, blood dialysis patients,

          3  certain household contacts of infected persons,

          4  particularly those who share household items and

          5  infants who are born to mothers who are hepatitis C

          6  carriers.

          7                 There were 494 reported cases of

          8  acute Hepatitis B infection reported among New

          9  Yorkers in 1995, 495 in 1996 and 456 in 1997. These

         10  numbers, for the most part, do not include

         11  approximately 1,500 Hepatitis B infected pregnant

         12  women who are reported yearly to the Department's

         13  Bureau of Immunization so that we can protect their

         14  infants from acquiring the disease.

         15                 Most of these pregnant women have

         16  chronic, as opposed to acute Hepatitis C infections,

         17  and are not part of this case count.

         18                 Fortunately, as with Hepatitis A,

         19  there is both Hepatitis B immune globulin, which can

         20  protect people recently exposed to the Hepatitis B

         21  virus, from establishment of infection and illness,

         22  and a vaccine against Hepatitis B. The safe and

         23  effective three dose Hepatitis B immunization

         24  series, at first used selectively and targeted to

         25  high risk groups, is rapidly taking it place in the
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          2  public health pantheon alongside that of polio,

          3  polio vaccine, DPT, MMR and other childhood

          4  vaccines.

          5                 The CDC now recommends Hepatitis B

          6  vaccine as a routine childhood vaccination and New

          7  York State now requires children born after 1993

          8  entering kindergarten and all children born after

          9  1995 entering day care, to be fully immunized

         10  against Hepatitis B.

         11                 Universal immunization for Hepatitis

         12  B starting very young is more easily accomplished

         13  than targeting high risk adolescents and adults. We

         14  can expect now to look forward to a generation

         15  substantially protected from this terrible disease.

         16  But in the meantime, the Department conducts a range

         17  of activities to prevent and control Hepatitis B.

         18                 In an average year, more Hepatitis B

         19  infected women give birth in New York City than in

         20  any other City or State, except California. If

         21  maternal infant transmission is not prevented, as

         22  many as 90 percent of the newborns that acquire

         23  Hepatitis B will develop a chronic Hepatitis B

         24  infection, and with it the potential for terminal

         25  liver disease over time.
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          2                 Our perinatal Hepatitis B

          3  Surveillance and Prevention Program, which is

          4  operated by the Bureau of Immunization, maintains

          5  surveillance on the Hepatitis B status of new

          6  mothers and follows up to assure that infants are

          7  protected from the threat of HIV infection -- excuse

          8  me, Hepatitis B infection.

          9                 New York State public health law

         10  requires that all pregnant women be tested for

         11  Hepatitis B infection, that the test results be

         12  prominently noted on the women's chart at the time

         13  of delivery, that positive lab tests be reported to

         14  the Department of Health and that babies born to

         15  Hepatitis B infected women be given both immune

         16  globulin and vaccine.

         17                 The Immunization Bureau conducts

         18  active surveillance of all hospitals where births

         19  occur or where prenatal care is given and of

         20  laboratories that serve these facilities.

         21                 The Bureau also distributes Hepatitis

         22  B infection reporting forms to all hospital-based

         23  obstetric services, obstetricians, prenatal care

         24  clinics, newborn nurseries, neonatologists,

         25  pediatricians and infection control and quality
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          2  management units.

          3                 Multiple reporting ensures that all

          4  pregnant women are tested for Hepatitis B and

          5  positive results are reported to us.

          6                 We concentrate on Hepatitis B testing

          7  of women during prenatal care, so that we can

          8  educate a mother who tests positive before delivery

          9  and so that her household contacts can be screened

         10  as early as possible.

         11                 Our staff visit obstetricians in

         12  private practice in areas where there is high

         13  incidence of Hepatitis B infection. Hence, more than

         14  80 percent of perinatal Hepatitis B infections among

         15  mothers to be are reported during prenatal care.

         16                 We then provide case management to

         17  all newborns of mothers with Hepatitis B infection,

         18  staff from the Bureau of Immunization visit the home

         19  to educate the mother, to collect demographic

         20  information, to identify screen and immunize

         21  household contacts and to provide assistance in

         22  getting the infants immunized.

         23                 In 1997, the perinatal Hepatitis B

         24  program followed 1,404 babies born of Hepatitis B

         25  infected mothers and documented that 83 percent of
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          2  them completed both the course of Hepatitis B immune

          3  globulin and the three-dose Hepatitis B vaccine

          4  series. The current school year is the first in

          5  which school aged children born in or after 1993

          6  must have had three doses of Hepatitis B vaccine to

          7  attend school.

          8                 Preliminary data indicate that 90

          9  percent of New York City kindergarteners have met

         10  this requirement, however, most older children, born

         11  before the establishment of a universal childhood

         12  Hepatitis B immunization requirement, are not so

         13  protected.

         14                 Thus, we are seeking to the extent

         15  possible to get these older children caught up

         16  during early adolescence before the Hepatitis B

         17  infection risks will likely increase.

         18                 In the 1996/'97 school year, the

         19  Bureau of School Health piloted a CDC funded

         20  Hepatitis B vaccination program for public school

         21  eighth graders with more than 3,500 students

         22  completing the three-dose series. Last year,

         23  1997/'98, the Bureau administered 60,251 vaccine

         24  doses to eighth graders, in both public and private

         25  schools, with 18,594 students completing the series.
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          2                 The Bureau continued the vaccination

          3  program for targeted grades in 361 public and

          4  non-public schools again this year.

          5                 In addition, the Bureau of

          6  Immunization offers Hepatitis B to students in

          7  school-based clinics at 16 intermediate and junior

          8  high schools in five districts. We have expanded the

          9  scope of the program to include all grade levels,

         10  sixth through eight, at 16 targeted schools.

         11                 We anticipate coordinating,

         12  conducting presentations, workshops and health fairs

         13  in the schools.

         14                 To increase compliance with

         15  adolescence Hepatitis B immunization efforts, the

         16  Bureau of Immunization developed a curriculum that

         17  is now taught in the schools and used in workshops,

         18  presentations and focus groups for students,

         19  parents, PTAs and community organizations.

         20                 Community boards and tenants

         21  associations have coordinated outreach efforts and a

         22  Hepatitis B immunization campaign that featured

         23  radio spots, ads in bus shelters and kiosks,

         24  community health workshops and brochures and flyers

         25  serve to heighten awareness of the disease.
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          2                 In order to reach school-aged

          3  children at risk, the Bureau of Immunization,

          4  working with the New York Downtown Hospital and the

          5  Chinatown Health Center administered more than 5,000

          6  doses of Hep B vaccine to children in 11 schools in

          7  Lower Manhattan during the 1997/'98 school year. The

          8  vaccine is also provided to high risk adolescents at

          9  a community health center, and to high school

         10  students in health career programs throughout the

         11  city.

         12                 The Bureau conducts a twice weekly

         13  clinic to educate and immunize adult inmates at the

         14  Riker's Island Correctional Facility, and we provide

         15  vaccines free to methadone maintenance clinics that

         16  provide comprehensive health care and that screen

         17  for Hepatitis B.

         18                 And two Health Department Bureaus,

         19  our Sexually Transmitted Diseases Bureau and

         20  Immunizations Bureau have teamed up to set up a

         21  Hepatitis B vaccination program at the Riverside STD

         22  clinic. Their patients and their close contacts who

         23  are at risk for Hepatitis B infection are routinely

         24  offered Hepatitis B immunization as part of their

         25  care.
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          2                 Our Bureau of HIV prevention services

          3  has added Hepatitis B screening to its operations.

          4  The Bureau's fleet of four mobile HELP vans, HELP

          5  stands for Health Education Life Program, park for

          6  several weeks at a time in high-need areas to afford

          7  their residents counseling, testing, education,

          8  outreach and referrals for HIV, sexually-transmitted

          9  diseases and other public health problems.

         10                 The vans now offer Hepatitis B

         11  screening and counseling as well. And the Bureau's

         12  Court Health Referral Project, an innovative program

         13  targeting with health and outreach services those

         14  who have been arrested for non-violent quality of

         15  life misdemeanor offenses, also provides Hepatitis B

         16  testing and outreach at the Midtown Community Court

         17  and the Brooklyn Treatment Court.

         18                 These front-line programs have

         19  screened more than 1,900 high-risk clients for

         20  Hepatitis exposure in 1998, and the first two months

         21  of 1999.

         22                 And now I would like to discuss

         23  Hepatitis C, which had formerly been known as non-A

         24  and non-B Hepatitis. Hep C is a liver disease that

         25  is caused by a virus that has only relatively

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            19

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  recently been identified and characterized.

          3                 The Hepatitis C virus is blood-borne,

          4  and it is spread from person to person by a direct

          5  contact with infective blood. The risks from sexual

          6  transmission and from household contact with a

          7  Hepatitis C infected person are not well defined but

          8  do appear to be low. Maternal infant transmission

          9  likewise seems to be uncommon.

         10                 There is no evidence of Hepatitis C

         11  transmission via casual contact from food or

         12  coughing or sneezing. And like Hepatitis B,

         13  Hepatitis C can present as acute or as chronic

         14  infection and the similarities do not end there.

         15  Hepatitis C is a complex disease with rapidly

         16  changing ramifications for clinical medicine, as

         17  well as for public health.

         18                 This is because of the

         19  characteristics of Hepatitis C disease itself

         20  because of the current state of diagnostic,

         21  therapeutic and preventive medicine, and because of

         22  its epidemiology, that is who gets Hepatitis C and

         23  how. And because of the limitations of traditional

         24  public health surveillance here in New York City,

         25  and across the nation, thus Hepatitis C is in a
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          2  category all its own and an understanding of the

          3  large and changing picture of this disease is

          4  critical to understanding what we are doing to

          5  address it.

          6                 Hepatitis C, I should point out, is

          7  not really new. It has had its existence as an

          8  infectious hepatitis disease, distinct from both

          9  Hepatitis A and B was established some time ago, but

         10  medical science could not identify or characterize

         11  the microbe causing the disease until 1988.

         12                 A test to screen the blood supply

         13  only arrived in 1990. A laboratory test to screen

         14  for exposure to the disease became available for use

         15  by clinicians seeing patients only in 1992.

         16                 There is no laboratory test to

         17  distinguish whether the disease is acute or chronic

         18  or resolved as there is for both Hepatitis A and B,

         19  there is no vaccine as there is for both A and B,

         20  and there is no prophylaxis or preventive agent that

         21  can prevent disease immediately following exposure

         22  as there is immune globulin for both A and B.

         23                 There is no treatment for the acute

         24  form of the disease, and while therapy for chronic

         25  Hepatitis C is a rapidly improving area of clinical
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          2  practice, treatment remains difficult, expensive and

          3  effective in only 50 percent of the time.

          4                 About 60 to 70 percent of those with

          5  acute Hepatitis C infection in fact have no apparent

          6  illness, some may have jaundice, or others sometimes

          7  may complain of vague symptoms and in a rare case

          8  there may be fatality rapidly, but most people with

          9  acute Hepatitis C infection do not know that they

         10  are ill. Consequently they often do not get tested

         11  until years after infection when they start to

         12  develop symptoms of chronic liver disease.

         13                 The primary means for conducting

         14  surveillance of any disease is complete reporting of

         15  cases from the clinician, the hospital and the

         16  laboratory.

         17                 In recent years direct reporting of

         18  certain laboratory test results to the Department of

         19  Health, in addition to reports from hospitals and

         20  clinicians had greatly improved our disease

         21  surveillance activities, however, because there is

         22  no Hepatitis C laboratory test to differentiate

         23  among acute, chronic and resolved infection, the

         24  Hepatitis C positive lab tests that are reported to

         25  us do not enable us to determine whether they in
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          2  fact represent new cases or cases acquired many

          3  years ago.

          4                 The significance of being able to

          5  distinguish between recently infected cases and

          6  those that had been acquired five, ten or 20 years

          7  ago is profound. Only by measuring the current

          8  infection rate can we know to what extent the

          9  disease is being transmitted today and how it

         10  changes from year to year.

         11                 Unfortunately diagnosis of acute

         12  Hepatitis C infection by the clinician is inherently

         13  difficult, both because symptoms of acute Hep C are

         14  mild, more often than not altogether absent, and

         15  because of the limitations of currently available

         16  laboratory testing.

         17                 Moreover, Hepatitis C only just

         18  became a reportable disease, less than four and a

         19  half years ago, not long after the first laboratory

         20  test before it became available to clinicians.

         21                 Many clinicians are only now gaining

         22  an understanding of the disease. Diagnosis and care

         23  of patients with Hepatitis C represents a clinical

         24  area still unfamiliar to many primary care

         25  practitioners throughout the nation. Patients
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          2  diagnosed as having Hepatitis C infection are likely

          3  to be referred for their care through a small cadre

          4  of liver specialists who are up-to-date with

          5  developments in this complex and rapidly evolving

          6  field.

          7                 Thus, since Hepatitis C became

          8  reportable, the New York City Health Department,

          9  like other large Health Departments, has received

         10  relatively few reports documenting acute Hep C

         11  diagnoses, amidst a large number of Hepatitis C

         12  positive laboratory test results.

         13                 We received more than 16,600

         14  laboratory test results and other reports all

         15  indeterminate for acute Hepatitis C infection during

         16  a six and a half month period from October 1998

         17  through April 19th, 1999. But insufficient data was

         18  available on the lab report to determine how many of

         19  these were acute and therefore represented new

         20  infections.

         21                 Despite limited case reporting data,

         22  there is much we do know about the epidemiology of

         23  Hepatitis C from the CDC studies and from other

         24  research.

         25                 Nationally an estimated 3.9 million
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          2  Americans or 1.8 percent of the population are

          3  Hepatitis C infected. Most of them not clinically

          4  ill and many of them unaware, and yet, CDC studies

          5  show the rate of infection has already peaked and is

          6  now slowing down. In fact, a dramatic decline in new

          7  infection began about ten years ago, and while

          8  perhaps 230,000 Americans were thought to become

          9  Hepatitis C infected every year in the 1980s, the

         10  number of new infections reported by the CDC has

         11  plummeted by more than 80 percent to 36,000 per year

         12  by 1996.

         13                 However, as the Hepatitis C infected

         14  population ages, the manifestations of chronic

         15  active hepatitis, primarily end-stage liver

         16  diseases, are on the rise. Hepatitis C already

         17  accounts for 40 percent of chronic liver disease in

         18  the nation and there are thought to be eight to

         19  10,000 deaths per year. Most Hepatitis C infected

         20  persons are between the ages of 30 and 49, as they

         21  reach the ages at which chronic liver disease

         22  complications typically set in.

         23                 Over the next two decades we can

         24  expect significant increases in cirrhosis and liver

         25  cancer deaths.
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          2                 Nationally CDC's data indicates that

          3  injecting drug use accounts for some 60 percent of

          4  Hepatitis C transmission and that is far and away

          5  the greatest risk. The number of new infections in

          6  injecting users has fallen, along with the total

          7  number of new infections, and that is good. But

          8  there is also data to suggest that there is a pocket

          9  of youthful injecting users lying squarely in the

         10  path of the Hepatitis C virus; in their first year

         11  of drug use, 60 to 80 percent of these young

         12  injectors will in all likelihood become infected.

         13                 Blood transfusion accounted for

         14  perhaps 20 percent of Hepatitis C transmission in

         15  the early 1980s, but today rarely accounts for new

         16  infections, thanks to routine screening of the blood

         17  supply. And by 1992, the risk for infections from a

         18  transfusion was decreased to one in 100,000 per

         19  units of blood transfused.

         20                 Sexual transmission of Hepatitis C

         21  appears to be occurring, but it appears also to be

         22  inefficient. It may account for up to 20 percent of

         23  new infections. Most studies of men who have sex

         24  with men do not find them to be an increased risk

         25  for Hepatitis C. Other known exposures,
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          2  occupational, hemodialysis, household contact and

          3  maternal-infant transmission, together probably

          4  account for another ten percent of infection.

          5                 And while we do not yet know whether

          6  the epidemiology of Hepatitis C here in New York

          7  City might vary, from what the CDC estimates is the

          8  national picture, it is certainly reasonable to

          9  infer, based on the large number of injecting drug

         10  users in New York City, that injection drug use is

         11  likely to be the dominant means of Hepatitis C

         12  transmission in our City.

         13                 Five months ago the CDC released

         14  recommendations for targeting Hepatitis C counseling

         15  and testing on the basis of risk, included in the

         16  CDC's guidelines for anyone who ever injected

         17  illegal drugs, anyone who received clotting factor,

         18  which is a blood product used mainly by hemophiliacs

         19  before 1987, anyone on chronic hemodialysis, anyone

         20  who received a blood transfusion or organ transplant

         21  before 1992, anyone sustaining needle stick exposure

         22  of Hep C positive patients, and children born to

         23  Hepatitis C positive mothers. There is not yet

         24  enough data on which to base recommending routine

         25  testing for others who may be at increased risk. For
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          2  example, those who have engaged in high-risk sexual

          3  activity, household contacts of Hepatitis C persons

          4  and those who have used cocaine intra-nasally.

          5                 The CDC's recommendations are

          6  informing our efforts, we are engaging in a number

          7  of new activities designed to meet the challenge

          8  posed by Hepatitis C here in New York City, and I

          9  would like to take a few minutes more just to let

         10  you know what these initiatives are being carried

         11  out by the Department of Health.

         12                 First, in the area of case reporting,

         13  in order to obtain the data that will be required to

         14  determine whether the estimated 25,000 Hepatitis C

         15  positive reports received annually represent acute

         16  or chronic infections or neither, and to evaluate

         17  risk factors for infection, the Bureau will solicit

         18  additional information from the physicians who have

         19  ordered these laboratory tests. Analysis of the

         20  responses will afford us a rough estimate of the

         21  incidence of acute Hepatitis C infection and the

         22  true prevalence of chronic Hepatitis C infection in

         23  New York City.

         24                 A survey of drug treatment programs

         25  to determine current Hepatitis C testing and
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          2  treatment practices. In March of this year the

          3  Bureau of Communicable Diseases began a survey in

          4  New York City Drug Treatment Program Directors in

          5  order to evaluate their programs, current practices

          6  regarding, and resources for, Hepatitis C

          7  counseling, testing and referrals for treatment. And

          8  while still in progress, preliminary responses

          9  indicate a need for the development of educational

         10  materials and further assistance in testing

         11  patients.

         12                 Epidemiologic investigation of deaths

         13  due to Hepatitis C: The Bureau of Communicable

         14  Diseases is planning to evaluate the incidence of

         15  fatal Hepatitis C cases in New York City by

         16  reviewing all death certificates by which Hepatitis

         17  C is listed as an underlying cause of death.

         18  Beginning this summer, staff will review these

         19  medical charts so as to develop demographic profiles

         20  and risk factor profiles.

         21                 A Hepatitis C prevalence survey of

         22  Department of Health STD clinic patients. During a

         23  two- to three-month period, 2,000 patients at all

         24  DOH STD clinics will be tested for Hepatitis C.

         25  Information will be collected to asses the
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          2  characteristics of those with Hepatitis C infection.

          3  Findings of this pilot project will be used to

          4  determine whether and how the Bureau should

          5  incorporate Hepatitis C counseling and testing and

          6  referral services into a existing STD HIV services,

          7  HIV counselor training, we are recruiting an

          8  associate public health epidemiologist to develop a

          9  program that will train staff in the Bureau of STD

         10  HIV testing sites to offer Hepatitis C counseling

         11  and testing services and to develop a clinical care

         12  referral program.

         13                 A health promotion campaign on

         14  Hepatitis C. We have begun planning a public

         15  education campaign that will effectively target

         16  those New Yorkers who are at high risk of having or

         17  getting Hepatitis C infection with primary or

         18  secondary prevention messages.

         19                 And importantly, a Healthcare

         20  Provider Education Program. The Department is

         21  engaging in a wide array of efforts to educate City

         22  healthcare providers in New York City regarding

         23  public health aspects of Hepatitis C.

         24                 The Bureau of Communicable Disease's

         25  physicians have conducted presentations on the
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          2  public health aspects of Hepatitis C at various

          3  Citywide meetings in the past year, including

          4  meetings with blood bank directors and medical

          5  directors and substance abuse programs.

          6                 Tomorrow evening our STD Disease

          7  Bureau is sponsoring a Citywide conference for

          8  healthcare providers entitled STD Grand Rounds:

          9  Hepatitis A, B and C at the New York Academy of

         10  Medicine.

         11                 Presenters include a national expert

         12  from the CDC and local experts from the City's best

         13  medical centers. We expect more than 250 clinicians

         14  to attend, and, of course, members of the Committee

         15  and your staff are certainly welcome.

         16                 This summer a special issue of the

         17  City Health Information, the Department's regular

         18  communique to the City's 25,000 physicians and other

         19  clinicians, will feature a special issue on

         20  hepatitis, focusing especially on Hepatitis C.

         21                 And laboratory staff and supplies:

         22  Our Bureau of Laboratory is adding a staff member

         23  and obtaining supplies with which to conduct

         24  in-house Hepatitis C testing. Hepatitis C testing

         25  will support planned pilot projects to evaluate
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          2  feasibility of providing Hepatitis C testing in our

          3  HIV counseling and testing sites.

          4                 These activities, taken together,

          5  will afford us a better epidemiological picture of

          6  Hepatitis C in New York City, enable us to institute

          7  both primary and secondary prevention efforts

          8  targeting those at greatest risk for Hepatitis C and

          9  forge better ties between the public health and

         10  medical communities, which must work collaboratively

         11  to improve access to Hepatitis C treatment.

         12                 And finally, you have asked me to

         13  provide some budget figures for Hepatitis

         14  activities. As you can see, our hepatitis activities

         15  are numerous and varied an they are truly spread

         16  across many bureaus in the Department. And as with

         17  most other disease categories there is no line item

         18  budget for hepatitis. For the most part these

         19  activities are part of the day-to-day public health

         20  activities and it would be impossible to assign a

         21  dollar figure to each of them.

         22                 However, as you know, we have

         23  received additional new needs funding to enhance

         24  these activities in several areas, and this funding

         25  is included in the Mayor's FY 2000 budget, which we
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          2  will be discussing in a few weeks.

          3                 First, some of the approximately 1.4

          4  million that has been allocated in this budget are

          5  offset, are expected to offset cuts in CDC funding

          6  for immunization programs, which will allow us to

          7  continue the surveillance and case management of

          8  perinatal Hepatitis B cases and adolescent Hepatitis

          9  B immunization at school-based clinic programs

         10  previously supported by CDC grant funding.

         11                 Also, included in the budget is an

         12  additional $117,000 which will support the health

         13  promotion and provider education programs discussed

         14  in my testimony, as well as training and development

         15  and enhanced laboratory capacity to facilitate

         16  Hepatitis C counseling and testing at HIV testing

         17  sites and development of a clinical referral

         18  program.

         19                 I thank you for this opportunity. I

         20  know my testimony was long, but there was a need, I

         21  think, to clarify the way in which the different

         22  variants of hepatitis have significantly different

         23  impacts on the public health of New Yorkers.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you,
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          2  Commissioner.

          3                 Before I start asking questions, many

          4  of my colleagues have joined us, so let me introduce

          5  them for the record.

          6                 To my extreme left we have been

          7  joined by Council Member Chris Quinn from Manhattan,

          8  Council Member Pedro Espada from the Bronx, the

          9  Chair of the Subcommittee on Mental Health, Mental

         10  Retardation and Alcoholism Services of this

         11  Committee, Council Member Una Clarke from Brooklyn.

         12  I also saw Council Member Jose Rivera from the

         13  Bronx. I think I introduced Council Member Reed, I

         14  am not going to do it again. Council Member Reed

         15  from Manhattan and the Bronx.

         16                 Commissioner, thank you. First of

         17  all, I must say that your testimony is well prepared

         18  and I have to commend you for that, and really at

         19  least address a lot of the areas that we have heard

         20  from the last testimony we had of the last hearing,

         21  but let me just perhaps throw some things around and

         22  then allow my colleagues to ask questions.

         23                 Let me bring you back to your

         24  testimony on page one of Hepatitis A, as you were

         25  elaborating on that, I noticed that in your numbers
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          2  you recite '95, '96 and '97, we are into '99, was

          3  there a reason why you did not include '98 figures?

          4                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: You can expect

          5  that the surveillance data from 1998 will be

          6  available probably by next month. There is a lot of

          7  cleaning up that is done in surveillance to make

          8  sure that reported cases correctly fall into the

          9  category that they are assigned, so there is always

         10  a lag period of about six months.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So, I am assuming

         12  that as soon as you have that figure, you will

         13  provide the Committee with the actual current data;

         14  is that fair to say?

         15                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, gladly. I

         16  will say that we have a preliminary report, and the

         17  preliminary report suggests that the number of Hep A

         18  cases is 530, so we are really not seeing any

         19  significant increase from what has been reported in

         20  the last few years.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And do you have

         22  that for Hepatitis B?

         23                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes. Preliminary

         24  we are seeing about 400 cases. As I reported

         25  earlier, there were 500, approximately 500 cases in
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          2  1996 and 1997, so we may have seen a modest decline.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Turning to your

          4  page four where you talk about your '96/'97 school

          5  year within your Bureau of School Health where you

          6  have this pilot that CDC funded, Hepatitis B

          7  vaccination program, you mention that you actually

          8  in the Year '97/'98 administered 60,251 vaccine

          9  dosages to eighth graders in both public and

         10  private, but then you say that with 18,594 students

         11  completing the series.

         12                 Since I am not an expert, can you

         13  just walk me through it? Because you start with a

         14  big number, yet at the end of the tunnel you come

         15  down to 18,000. For those of us who perhaps don't

         16  understand it, can you just clear those numbers for

         17  us?

         18                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Sure.

         19                 The course of vaccinations,

         20  immunizations for Hepatitis B requires three

         21  separate vaccinations that are spaced, and so you

         22  would see a minimum of three -- in order to have a

         23  completed Hepatitis B series, you would see three

         24  immunizations per child. So, that is why the numbers

         25  are so disparate.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: That may be so,

          3  but, again, let me perhaps --

          4                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: In the testimony

          5  where I reported 18,594 children completing the

          6  series, we had about 60,251 vaccine doses. So, each

          7  child that was completed, that would total 54,000

          8  and then there are about 6,000 other doses that did

          9  not reach a complete series.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And that is

         11  during what period of time?

         12                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That is over the

         13  course of one year.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now, I am

         15  assuming, and, again, I am just trying to understand

         16  what you just said, that this targeted number, based

         17  upon your testimony, fits in within one of the

         18  categories that you described the three different

         19  hepatitis; is that fair to say?

         20                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, this is

         21  Hepatitis B.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So that if I

         23  remember correctly, in your testimony there were

         24  certain pockets of communities where you indicated

         25  that that number was high. With the 6,000 or the
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          2  5,000 students that did not complete, if you started

          3  a series because you determine that there is a need

          4  for it, how do then we -- it's like other

          5  vaccinations, you know, where there is a series, how

          6  do you then get to those 6,000 that started it, but

          7  yet did not complete it.

          8                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: As I said earlier

          9  in the testimony, it is only fairly recently that

         10  immunization for Hepatitis B for young children has

         11  become mandatory in the State, so what we have done

         12  with this program is to try to address those

         13  pre-teens and early teens who have not received

         14  immunization as children, so we are trying to do

         15  this across the Board, and over a period of time we

         16  will not need to do this in the future as children

         17  become immunized at the time that they, in order to

         18  gain entry into public school, in the first grade or

         19  kindergarten they would require a full Hepatitis B

         20  series of three vaccinations.

         21                 So, at this point what we have been

         22  attempting to do is do catch up with youth before

         23  they reach the age of greater risk for transmission,

         24  acquisition of Hepatitis B virus, as well as

         25  transmission.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me just for

          3  the record --

          4                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I should also add

          5  that, you know, we can't do all of this alone in the

          6  City Department of Health, and we have a very active

          7  outreach program with health care providers with

          8  pediatricians throughout this City and they have

          9  been alerted to the need to provide catch-up

         10  immunization for those young people who have not

         11  received it in early childhood as well.

         12                 So, these doses only reflect a

         13  smaller portion of the total number of children in

         14  our schools who are receiving immunizations from a

         15  variety of other sources, such as clinics and

         16  private practitioners.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me make sure,

         18  again, I am trying to understand what is being said

         19  here.

         20                 The 60,000 students are students that

         21  are already in school or will be going to school?

         22                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: These are eighth

         23  graders.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So they are

         25  already in school.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Right.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now, we did put

          4  back nurses in every school; is that correct?

          5                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Every elementary

          6  school.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Elementary. So

          8  that on the junior high school level we do not have

          9  a nurse in each school?

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: At the level of

         11  the Junior High Schools we have public health

         12  advisors, but we don't have a daily nursing

         13  presence. The nurses come once a week.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me tell you

         15  what my dilemma is, and maybe as we deal with this

         16  budget process we start dealing with it and I need

         17  to really see a breakdown, because my problem is

         18  when we lump sum money, it is not easy for us to

         19  keep track of where it is going. So, let me be

         20  clear.

         21                 Let me remind you that I had an

         22  oversight hearing on an area that is very dear to me

         23  because my first bill that I passed when I went to

         24  the State Assembly, which then the chairman of the

         25  Health Committee of which I was a member was Alan
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          2  Hevesi, and it was the immunization bill, of which

          3  originally the immunization only called for public

          4  schools, and my bill amended the bill which now has

          5  both public and private parochial schools.

          6                 We had an oversight hearing here

          7  because Comptroller Alan Hevesi pointed out in an

          8  audit that the immunization program within the Board

          9  of Education is not really keeping up to assuring

         10  that every child entering the school system has the

         11  proper immunization.

         12                 Now, I only say that because you just

         13  said youngsters, and the reason why we put back

         14  nurses into schools, and I have to look at the

         15  junior high school level and intermediate school

         16  level, was in order to bring back what was once the

         17  health nurse in the school and that person was

         18  responsible to monitor the paper trail, and as you

         19  know, the law is clear, if you do not have the

         20  proper immunization, you cannot enter school. And I

         21  must tell you that I am not comfortable because I

         22  saw numbers where there are students today in school

         23  who may not have all of the proper immunization.

         24  This one is a new one.

         25                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. And the

          3  more we add, the more we add, but yet we somehow

          4  have loopholes and people and students are going to

          5  school yet not properly immunized, then, you know,

          6  it is something we need to be addressing. And I want

          7  to be clear, I think we could only address it during

          8  budget time.

          9                 And that is why, with all due

         10  respect, I would like to see broken down where, if

         11  it is lump sum where is it going to go, for what

         12  purpose so that we can at least see whether we are

         13  fulfilling what we said we would do, and I will tell

         14  you that I hope all of these recommendations -- now,

         15  these recommendations that you ended with are

         16  recommendations that you, as the Commissioner,

         17  either are implementing or are about to implement;

         18  is that what --

         19                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Correct. If I may

         20  just follow up on your concern about the --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Could I make one

         22  more point? Can you then give us a timetable of

         23  those that you have implemented, those that you

         24  haven't? But when you will implement them so that we

         25  keep track of what you said is what we do?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes. First to

          3  your comment and your concern, which I share, as a

          4  significant public health issue, the immunization of

          5  our young children.

          6                 We are monitoring this very, very

          7  closely and with regard to the new Hepatitis B

          8  requirement, you should know that this past year we

          9  found that 90 percent of kindergarten-aged children

         10  had completed the required three doses of Hepatitis

         11  B.

         12                 I also would like to share with you

         13  that I issued a Commissioner's order to

         14  approximately ten principals of elementary schools

         15  in New York City because of unsatisfactory

         16  compliance with the immunization requirement,

         17  putting them on notice that they needed to bring

         18  that into full compliance with our standards, or

         19  face significant penalties. And we have discussed

         20  this with the Board of Education and I anticipate

         21  that those schools will be coming into compliance.

         22                 But what we were talking about --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner,

         24  this is something new to me, and, again, let me make

         25  sure I understand what you just said.
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          2                 When did that order go into effect?

          3                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: An order was

          4  issued by myself a few weeks ago.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: A few weeks ago.

          6  So, again, I don't know, but help me out. So now the

          7  order was issued, is there a timetable? Where it is

          8  not about speaking to the schools, it is about a

          9  mandate that they must do it, is there a certain

         10  time that they have to comply, or if not then it

         11  kicks in the violations which means, I am assuming

         12  you are saying you are imposing fines? Is that what

         13  you are saying to me?

         14                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And how much are

         16  those fines? Just out of curiosity?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: A

         18  thousand dollars.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And of those

         20  schools that you cited, are any of them within this

         21  five district pilot project that you mention in your

         22  testimony?

         23                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I don't believe

         24  so.

         25                 By the way, there is a time frame to
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          2  that, it is a 15-day time frame. And we are

          3  currently now doing the follow-up to determine

          4  whether those schools have met the targets and are

          5  in compliance. And there are very significant fines

          6  and it is a discussion that we have with the Board

          7  of Education that we take very, very seriously.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, I want to

          9  help you, because one thing when it comes to health,

         10  this chair is not going to wait until the sleeping

         11  giant called the Board of Education decides that

         12  that is important. Health to me is a non-negotiable

         13  thing, and if they are in violation of the law, they

         14  don't have the right to determine when, where and

         15  how.

         16                 So, may I respectfully ask that you

         17  provide this Committee with those ten schools, the

         18  violation, when it was issued, when we are following

         19  through? And if you start slapping penalties, I want

         20  to know how much that is. And I am going to help you

         21  to send a clear message, because I am not going to

         22  have William C. Thompson, the President of the Board

         23  of Education, who comes from Brooklyn, and I hope

         24  none of the schools, and for that matter for any of

         25  my colleagues, I hope it is in none of the schools,
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          2  but I am not going to sit around having the Brooklyn

          3  member who is the President of the Board, you know,

          4  and if those schools happen to come from Brooklyn,

          5  he is going to be hearing from us.

          6                 So, would you please provide the

          7  Committee with those schools.

          8                 Second, I would like to know on this

          9  pilot program of the schools you mention, you said

         10  five districts, can you provide us also with the

         11  five districts and the schools where you have this

         12  program going on?

         13                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, my last,

         15  and then I will call my colleagues. Well, actually

         16  two things. One, this 1.4 cut of CBC that you say in

         17  this budget, is that 1.4 in total in the Mayor's

         18  budget to restore this cut? Is that what you are

         19  saying to me? Is that the total number?

         20                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: There is $1.4

         21  million in the Executive Budget.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So, with that

         23  executive budget appropriation, that will cover for

         24  any cuts that currently will come because of CDC's

         25  cuts? Or is it greater?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We have seen

          3  significant cuts from the CDC over the past several

          4  years, so we have been meeting those cuts through

          5  internal reallocation and the 1.4 million that is in

          6  this executive budget will enable us to maintain the

          7  priorities of the immunization program.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: My last area is,

          9  as you know, we have a resolution before us that we

         10  will be voting shortly, which we call upon the

         11  Congress to increase funds for research to help find

         12  cures and treatment for Hepatitis A, B and C. Do you

         13  have any position on that resolution?

         14                 Second, just out of curiosity, if

         15  there is funding, have you utilized those federal

         16  funds, particularly for research purposes?

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Our federal

         18  funding at the City Department of Health is not used

         19  for research purposes, it is used for, primarily for

         20  surveillance, the collection of data, the management

         21  of that data and the dissemination of the

         22  information that we derive to communities and

         23  community providers and health care providers.

         24                 We are currently involved in a

         25  collaboration with the Academy of Medicine on a
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          2  CDC-funded project that is a research project that

          3  is at the Academy of Medicine, and we are

          4  collaborators, but it is not our funding to look at

          5  the instance of Hepatitis C infection in New York

          6  City, but they are the principle investigator. My

          7  point being -- among drug-users in particular -- so

          8  my point being that federal funding for the

          9  Department of Health is targeted to necessary

         10  surveillance activity that is translated into the

         11  kind of tracking and monitoring of disease that will

         12  allow us to provide more primary and secondary

         13  prevention.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Do you have any

         15  position on the resolution that is before us that we

         16  are going to be voting on?

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Certainly we

         18  support the need for additional funding for research

         19  that would allow us to develop better treatments for

         20  hepatitis, as well as to ultimately develop a

         21  vaccine that will provide immunization to Hepatitis

         22  C and a whole host of public health issues that

         23  still need to be addressed through the various

         24  variants in hepatitis virus.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And when would we
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          2  expect to get the listing of those schools? I would

          3  like to see it before we have our hearing, so that

          4  when the Board of Ed comes before us, maybe we

          5  should raise that issue, if they have not already

          6  addressed the issue. When would the Committee get

          7  that information?

          8                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I can provide

          9  that for you within the next day or two.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

         11                 Council Member Reed.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

         13  Chair.

         14                 Good morning, Commissioner. Your

         15  testimony is fairly thorough and I certainly

         16  appreciate the chair helping us clarify the point

         17  about 60,000 versus the 18,000, that was a major

         18  question of mine.

         19                 So, in that category it looks like it

         20  is almost 56,000 so that is fairly thorough in terms

         21  of them completing the three rounds.

         22                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, we are quite

         23  close to a complete series in all instances.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Are we doing

         25  this every year? Are we expanding that every year?
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          2  Once they have this immunization, does that last

          3  forever? That's it? That is all they have to do? I

          4  mean, I have to get a flu shot every year, so I am

          5  just trying to understand.

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We would expect

          7  that this immunization series, completed series,

          8  would give long-lasting immunity to youth as they

          9  pass on to adulthood and would otherwise be in

         10  categories of risk, and we will continue this

         11  program as a priority.

         12                 As I said earlier, this is a catch-up

         13  program for those children who are not immunized at

         14  the kindergarten/first grade level, and hopefully it

         15  will be time limited as we reach 100 percent with

         16  our younger kids.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I think I

         18  understand that, and I applaud the effort that you

         19  have done and the success of it. I am just curious,

         20  is there any way we are tracking some of these cases

         21  to see in fact had people previously been immunized

         22  and if in fact now there is another situation?

         23                 You know, you are saying that you are

         24  catching some of them in the infancy, you are

         25  catching some of them in elementary schools, is this
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          2  the first time in the last couple of years that we

          3  have attempted this immunization program; is that

          4  it? You said this has been available for, what did

          5  you say, five or six years?

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, this is a

          7  new initiative for Hepatitis B, and we only carried

          8  it out this past year and we will continue.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: In your

         10  testimony about Hepatitis C, I stepped away for a

         11  moment so maybe I didn't understand it.

         12                 You were able to quantify in both A

         13  and B, you had 900 some odd kids, 920 in Hepatitis A

         14  and 456 in Hepatitis B, but there is no number in C,

         15  and the reason for that is? I missed it. I looked

         16  over this testimony and don't see it.

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Over a six-month

         18  period we had approximately 16,000 cases referred to

         19  us. What I tried to highlight in my testimony is

         20  that these laboratory test results in and of

         21  themselves don't give us information to know whether

         22  these are acute Hep C infections, whether they are

         23  chronic Hepatitis C infections, so one of our

         24  initiatives going forward is to seek more

         25  information from physicians that will provide us
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          2  with a better way to more accurately determine the

          3  incidence of new cases of infection in New York

          4  City.

          5                 I said also that according to CDC,

          6  since the 1990s and our ability to screen Hepatitis

          7  C from the blood supply, that the number of new

          8  cases has declined by about -- the number of new

          9  infections is declining by about 80 percent. So,

         10  while in the '80s there were about 230,000 cases per

         11  year, now there is only thought to be 30,000 to

         12  35,000 new cases per year nationwide. So, we believe

         13  that what we are seeing when we have these very

         14  large numbers, and when you hear some of the media

         15  reports that are labeling the so-called epidemic of

         16  hepatitis, what we are actually seeing is, most

         17  likely we are seeing old cases that were, cases that

         18  were transmitted 20, 25, 30 years ago that are

         19  showing up now because of the progression in the way

         20  that the virus attacks the liver towards significant

         21  liver disease. And so, rather than a significant

         22  increase in new cases, we are actually seeing cases

         23  that were transmitted --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Just now

         25  recognizing.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Now being

          3  recognized.

          4                 And I don't say this to minimize the

          5  public health impact, because naturally we need to

          6  develop ways to improve our surveillance so that we

          7  can identify people who would be at risk, both to

          8  prevent the transmission of new infections with

          9  Hepatitis C, as well as ways to link them with

         10  treatments that are becoming increasingly effective

         11  as time is going on, so that this advanced stage of

         12  liver disease can be averted.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I understand

         14  that. I am simply trying to put this -- the term

         15  epidemic can be easily bandied about, and so I am

         16  trying to put some number for Hepatitis C as it

         17  correlates to A and B. So you are telling me I can't

         18  use the 16,000 juxtaposed against the 920 and 456

         19  because those numbers are reported this year, and we

         20  don't have an accurate number for what was reported

         21  in, I think that was '97 or '98 or whatever year it

         22  was.

         23                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: You are correct.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And lastly, is

         25  there any correlation that you know of in terms of
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          2  these numbers? I notice that a lot of what you are

          3  talking about, certainly in terms of people who are

          4  more susceptible, people who are HIV positive, are

          5  we seeing any rise or fall in terms of the numbers

          6  of the people that are diagnosed as we see a change

          7  in the HIV epidemic? Either through awareness of

          8  individuals or of susceptibility in your system?

          9                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Councilman, are

         10  you referring to the Hepatitis C?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Yes.

         12                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We are actually,

         13  you know, this is one of our initiatives to look at

         14  the incidence of Hepatitis C among people with

         15  sexually transmitted diseases, as well as HIV

         16  infection. So, that is information that we need to

         17  acquire. But we will be carrying that out over the

         18  coming months.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I guess what I

         20  am trying to understand, and I appreciate your

         21  looking at this, a lot of this, you are talking

         22  about substance abusers as a population that you are

         23  concerned about, and I am curious to also find out,

         24  with individuals as it relates to Hepatitis C. It is

         25  clear in my mind, I can't get a flow in terms of
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          2  verbally at the moment, the question I am trying to

          3  ask here.

          4                 As people's immune systems improve,

          5  are we seeing -- does that have any impact on people

          6  not getting Hepatitis C? So we are seeing less

          7  people in certain communities as we understand HIV,

          8  is there any correlation in that?

          9                 Because I understand some of your

         10  testimony, you are saying that a lot of the same

         11  groups of people of having their susceptibility to

         12  both diseases; am I making myself clear?

         13                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: You are

         14  absolutely right. There are shared risk factors

         15  which leads to the same groups of people who are at

         16  risk for a variety of these blood-borne infections.

         17                 We are not aware, though, that there

         18  is a relationship between the recovery of people

         19  with HIV infection and a lessened amount of

         20  susceptibility to Hepatitis C infection.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Before we go to

         23  our next colleague, let me just, since we have most

         24  of the members, for my colleague I have instructed

         25  the clerk to add everyone's name as a prime sponsor,
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          2  if you choose not to, please let him know in the

          3  meantime, everybody's name will be on this

          4  resolution.

          5                 I will also ask my colleagues to

          6  allow me to leave the roll open for Council Member

          7  Povman and Harrison. And if I see no objections to

          8  that, Mr. Clerk, would you call the roll call on

          9  this resolution.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Robles.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Rivera.

         13                 (No response.)

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Clarke.

         15                 (No response.)

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Reed.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Aye.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Espada.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Aye.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Quinn.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Oddo.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

         25  Clarke. Please call Council Member Clarke's name.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            56

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Clarke.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: May I be

          4  excused?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: To explain your

          6  vote?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Absolutely.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: May I be

         10  excused to explain my vote?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

         12  Clarke to explain her vote.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Mr. Chairman,

         14  I think that this is a critical issue that you are

         15  addressing. I think that we need to work both with

         16  the federal government, the State Department of

         17  Health and with the Department of Health to have a

         18  thoroughly coordinated program to combat hepatitis,

         19  because whether we see it as an epidemic today, the

         20  potential is always there.

         21                 So, although you may cite numbers

         22  that are going down, I think that the potential is

         23  there, so I would vote aye, aye and aye, for all

         24  three agencies.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: The vote stands

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  at seven in the affirmative, none in the negative,

          3  with no abstentions and it is still open.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me just say

          5  for the record that it was Council Member Clarke who

          6  came to me in urging me to have oversight hearings

          7  on this topic.

          8                 May I instruct the Counsel of the

          9  Committee that Council Member Clarke raised an issue

         10  which I believe we can address and that is perhaps

         11  we should introduce a similar resolution calling

         12  upon the State Legislature to similarly deal with

         13  this issue, so that you can vote aye aye aye

         14  accordingly every time you get a chance.

         15                 Let me also say that while we are

         16  discussing the state, since you mentioned also, and

         17  since we are about to do our budget, maybe we should

         18  have a resolution introduced in the City Council

         19  calling upon the Council also and similarly so you

         20  can have your three ayes at the same time.

         21                 Council Member Clarke.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Chairman.

         24                 Commissioner, I am pleased that you

         25  have come this morning and could give such thorough
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          2  testimony. However, I am still concerned because it

          3  was under your predecessor Commissioner Hamburg,

          4  that the issue of hepatitis came to my attention.

          5  For three summers there was a health van out

          6  stationed in the 40th District at different points,

          7  and there was a director person by the name of

          8  Victor Hunter, who coordinated those efforts on

          9  behalf of the district. And at that time, following

         10  those three summers, Dr. Hamburg called me in to

         11  give me some of what the findings were, what

         12  happened during that summer and how successful those

         13  programs were, and certainly hepatitis became one of

         14  those issues that we addressed, and at that time she

         15  said that I should not be alarmed because it was in

         16  many immigrant communities throughout the country,

         17  and so my question to you now, and that was

         18  hepatitis B I think it was that she identified, you

         19  have named many communities in which you have some

         20  trepidation or you think that the emerging numbers

         21  were, and you name communities of men having sex

         22  with men, bisexual and I guess prostitutes or

         23  street-walkers or whoever it is, for the

         24  surveillance that you are now putting in place, you

         25  have named some communities, are those communities
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          2  in which you will be paying attention, or do you see

          3  the same thing for immigrant communities, such as

          4  East Flatbush, I guess Washington Heights, I would

          5  also think that in Queens Jackson Heights and those

          6  areas where there are large numbers and especially

          7  in those communities where sanitary conditions were

          8  not the best from which those persons come, have you

          9  seen fit to take a look at those?

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes,

         11  Councilwoman. With Hepatitis B, we certainly know

         12  that in certain countries -- certain countries are

         13  more endemic with respect to the Hep B virus, so

         14  many of our immigrants coming from these countries

         15  may be coming with Hep B infection and we are very

         16  vigilant with respect to the way we would address

         17  and reach out to those communities to look to

         18  particularly the context and potential exposure of

         19  young children and newborns.

         20                 So, for example, in our perinatal

         21  program for Hepatitis B surveillance, we have

         22  identified those communities that appear to be at

         23  highest risk for pregnant women who are carriers of

         24  hepatitis B, and our surveillance program ensures

         25  that the children will receive the immunoglobulin,
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          2  as well as the complete Hepatitis B series. And as I

          3  said in my testimony, we have been more than 83

          4  percent successful in completing a full course.

          5                 Some of the communities that we find

          6  to have the highest rates for Hepatitis B among

          7  pregnant women are the Chinatown community in

          8  Manhattan, communities in Flushing and Elmhurst and

          9  High Bridge in the Bronx, Bayridge in Brooklyn, the

         10  Morrisania section of the Bronx. So we recognize

         11  that many of these communities that I listed have a

         12  good number of immigrants from Southeast Asia and

         13  other parts of the world where Hepatitis B is

         14  thought to be endemic and it poses as a particular

         15  public health issue.

         16                 I should say at this time that the

         17  CDC with regard to Hepatitis C does not -- has not

         18  determined that immigrant status is an additional

         19  risk factor for Hepatitis C transmission.

         20                 Now, that is something that we at New

         21  York City need to be very conscientious in looking

         22  at our own data and that is something that I laid

         23  out for you earlier.  Going forward in the next

         24  several months we will be looking very carefully at

         25  the relationship of immigrant status to the
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          2  particular Hepatitis C variant as well.

          3                 So, in total, I agree with you that

          4  there are a number of reasons that immigrants should

          5  be a particular focus. We don't know yet the

          6  relationship to Hepatitis C and it is something that

          7  we hope to learn about over the coming months. The

          8  CDC does not have any guidelines to this at this

          9  moment and we will determine this for ourselves. And

         10  it is very clear that there are risk factors

         11  associated with immigrant status in Hepatitis B

         12  transmission that we are aware of, and as a result

         13  we target our interventions in those communities

         14  where those risks are greater.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Without

         16  calling it the chicken or the egg at this point, of

         17  the three types that we are now discussing --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Excuse me. Did

         19  you forget East Flatbush in the 40th? Please mention

         20  it so we can get the chicken back on track.

         21                 Go ahead, Council member.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Of the three

         23  types that we are now discussing, which would you

         24  think that we need to pay the greatest attention to,

         25  and which we don't quite have a handle and which has

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            62

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  the greatest potential for real outbreak and

          3  problems for our City?

          4                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, you know,

          5  each of the three variants pose very different

          6  public health issues. Our efforts are supported by

          7  the availability of immunization for Hepatitis A and

          8  Hepatitis B, so we are able to identify in Hepatitis

          9  A pockets of outbreaks, do the necessary

         10  investigation that will allow us to identify

         11  individuals who may be at risk, and see that they

         12  are treated acutely with prophylaxis, as well as

         13  address the long-term need with immunization.

         14                 So, over time, the availability of

         15  immunizations allow us to address these public

         16  health threats in a far more long ranging successful

         17  manner than when these immunizations are not

         18  available to us.

         19                 So, that is our dilemma with

         20  Hepatitis C, and although the good news seems to be,

         21  according to CDC data, that there are 80 percent

         22  fewer new infections occurring nationwide, the bad

         23  news is that we don't have immunization, that we

         24  have individuals who acquire these infections in

         25  previous years before we had the information that we
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          2  have available today to us, that would allow us to

          3  do more primary prevention, and so we have a large

          4  pool of people in our city who are carriers of

          5  Hepatitis C and who are facing a likelihood of

          6  significant progression toward end-stage liver

          7  disease.

          8                 So, we need to, and this is where we

          9  strongly support your calls for new federal

         10  research, because we need to be able to have better

         11  treatments that are more effective. Right now the

         12  treatments that are available for Hepatitis C are

         13  very expensive, there are health risks associated

         14  with the treatments, as well as only a 40 to 50

         15  percent success rate. So, we need to do better with

         16  respect to treatment, as well as identifying the

         17  pool of Hepatitis C carriers, so we can address the

         18  so-called secondary transition of Hepatitis C.

         19                 Over time with regard to Hepatitis B,

         20  as time goes on and as we are successful in our

         21  universal immunization of young children who are

         22  coming into the school system, we will be reducing

         23  the pool of Hepatitis B carriers and so the public

         24  health threat of Hepatitis B over the long haul is

         25  something that would appear to be improving.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: At the

          3  beginning of the AIDS/HIV crisis, before it became

          4  an epidemic, I don't think that we did enough to

          5  either identify -- the Haitian-American community

          6  took a big hit as being carriers and whatever it

          7  was, before any real research, any real work was

          8  done. We dedicated a department of AIDS services

          9  then, just to combat the crisis that occurred

         10  following all of our speculation about how AIDS and

         11  HIV was transmitted.

         12                 Do you think that it would be

         13  important for us in the Department of Health to have

         14  dedicated person or persons who are experts in blood

         15  diseases to carry out the work to prevent another

         16  epidemic before it becomes a crisis, just to pay

         17  attention to Hepatitis in all of its categories?

         18                 And don't use the word money here.

         19                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: The way I would

         20  choose to answer that is to say that I have put

         21  forward in my testimony what I feel is a good number

         22  of important initiatives for the New York City

         23  Department of Health to carry out that will better

         24  inform this public health agency as to the true

         25  incidence and potential public health threat of
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          2  Hepatitis in New York City.

          3                 I think in a relatively short period

          4  of time we will be in a much better more informed

          5  position to assess the public health threat and the

          6  resources that would be needed to address hepatitis

          7  in the way that we feel we would be able to have

          8  success.

          9                 So, I would expect that I would

         10  revisit this issue with the Committee and look at

         11  the need for resources in the future as we have a

         12  better handle on the full extent of the incidence,

         13  the prevalence and what measures need to be taken to

         14  ensure the safety and public health of New Yorkers

         15  with regard to hepatitis infection.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you,

         17  Commissioner.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Just one quick

         19  thing.

         20                 Commissioner, in your testimony, and

         21  I don't remember where in the testimony, you did say

         22  that you were going to bring a person of expertise

         23  in the Department. Tell me the difference between

         24  that person and what Council Member Clarke just

         25  asked you of. Is it in the same area?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, I made

          3  reference in the portion on our Hepatitis C

          4  initiatives to the fact that we would bring on board

          5  a public health epidemiologist who would help us to

          6  assess the opportunities for providing Hepatitis C

          7  counseling and testing services in the HIV testing

          8  sites, as well as to develop a clinical referral

          9  program.

         10                 One of the issues that the public

         11  health has faced around testing for hepatitis is the

         12  fact that there were few resources available in the

         13  medical community to actually offer treatment for

         14  the hepatitis infection.

         15                 So, the CDC in fact did not take a

         16  very aggressive stance with respect to widespread

         17  testing, recognizing that treatment and good

         18  clinical supports and treatment services were not

         19  available.

         20                 We, in fact, going forward, in

         21  conjunction with a more aggressive testing program,

         22  would want to have a dialogue with all of the

         23  providers in the health care community, both to

         24  educate them, as well as to identify the resources

         25  that would be available not only at HHC, the
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          2  Department of Health but in the voluntary sector as

          3  well, so that we would be in a better position with

          4  our campaigns to be able to refer people, link them

          5  and make sure they are getting state-of-the-art

          6  treatment and care for their hepatitis infections.

          7                 And so, that is actually the

          8  intention with regard to some of the new staff that

          9  are going to be brought on board.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, thank you.

         11                 Council Member Quinn.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         13                 On page two you talk about two

         14  clinics which kind of have a special program or

         15  whatever, what two clinics are those?

         16                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That was with

         17  regard to Hepatitis A.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Yes.

         19                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: The Clan Lourdes

         20  (phonetic) Health Center, the Chelsea STD clinic --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: The Leona

         22  Bombgartner Centers, the one on 9th Avenue and 28th?

         23                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That's correct.

         24                 So, our efforts were targeted to

         25  those health care sites in those communities that
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          2  had this very high rate of transmission of Hepatitis

          3  A, and as you may know from my testimony, we are

          4  having a significant impact.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: No, that is

          6  clear in here. At Calan Lourdes were they given a

          7  City grant to do this? Were they given additional

          8  funding to help them meet this increase and help you

          9  combat it?

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: What we did with

         11  Calan Lourdes was we provided the vaccines --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I am having

         13  trouble hearing you.

         14                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Okay.

         15                 We provided the vaccines to the Calan

         16  Lourdes Clinic.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: For free?

         18                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: For free.

         19                 We provided some education to the

         20  health care providers just to bring them up to date

         21  with respect to the hepatitis and the treatment, as

         22  well as develop a public education campaign that was

         23  available to the Calan Lourdes Clinic, as well as in

         24  other venues in the West Village and Chelsea

         25  communities that would inform the public about
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          2  Hepatitis A and what they would need to do

          3  specifically with respect to getting tested and

          4  immunized.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Can you give me

          6  a little detail on what that public information

          7  campaign looked like when you made it available to

          8  Calan Lourdes and the community? Does that mean you

          9  gave them money to make posters and ads you made,

         10  pamphlets, and ask them to distribute them? What

         11  exactly does that mean?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: I am Ben

         13  Mojica, I am Deputy Commissioner of Health, Disease

         14  Intervention.

         15                 We did develop public education

         16  materials in the form of a brochure that can be

         17  distributed both to clients over at Clan Lourdes and

         18  the Bureau of STD Clinic over at Chelsea, but this

         19  is also available for wide distribution in the

         20  community itself. It is also being distributed in

         21  various venues in the Village and also Chelsea

         22  Clinton.

         23                 We are also planning to assist Calan

         24  Lourdes and some other community-based organization

         25  on advertising these kinds of services in the
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          2  popular press.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Will that

          4  advertisement, will they receive funding from the

          5  City to pay for that? Because of course it is

          6  costly.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: We are

          8  going to develop it in collaboration with them and

          9  will probably shoulder the cost of development of

         10  the material and also for the advertising itself.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I am sorry,

         12  could you say that again.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: We are

         14  going to support the development of the material and

         15  the placement of the ad.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So that means

         17  you are going to pay for the graphic artist and for

         18  the ad?

         19                 I am sorry, I just don't understand.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay, great.

         22  Thanks.

         23                 Could the Committee --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: These clinics

         25  that you are discussing, are they in your district?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Yes, they are

          3  both in my district.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner, you

          5  know, we do have some new members, and let me just

          6  say, you have publicly said there are certain areas

          7  where there is a focus, and the Council Member who

          8  is a member of this Committee is now asking

          9  questions because I am getting the impression this

         10  is the first time she has heard about it.

         11                 May I respectfully suggest that your

         12  people, and that is what I find wrong -- you know,

         13  we do get elected, we do represent people. I just

         14  put out a news release, you know, a newsletter? So,

         15  my focus in my district, because we just closed the

         16  Williamsburg Bridge, focus on the Williamsburg

         17  Bridge, you know, we are talking about paying for

         18  advertisement, I mean she also has newsletters where

         19  perhaps she will help you to give to her

         20  constituency and inform them where to go to and I

         21  just want to say, sir, may I suggest you reach out

         22  to the Councilperson in those communities that you

         23  are referring to?

         24                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Gladly.

         25                 I should comment that I do have, we
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          2  have a number of public education material on

          3  hepatitis and if you would like, Mr. Chair, I would

          4  provide that to you and to the Committee members.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, I think in

          6  terms of the issue, perhaps I would welcome it, and

          7  instead of to this Committee, there are 51 members.

          8  I am just sitting here listening to a new member of

          9  the Council who is a new member of this Committee,

         10  and I am listening to her questions, and, first of

         11  all, are these clinics DOH?

         12                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: No, they are not.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: No, one is. One

         14  is. The Leona Bombgartner Chelsea STD Clinic on 9th

         15  Avenue is a DOH facility.

         16                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Right. Calan

         17  Lourdes is not.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, again, I

         19  suggest that somebody immediately make it their

         20  business to sit with Council Member Quinn so that

         21  you can walk through with her what activities, who

         22  is doing it, where, when and how. It will be very

         23  helpful, I believe.

         24                 Council Member Quinn.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: That would be
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          2  great. I would love to do that. And I think if we

          3  could do it, sit down in May, it would be

          4  particularly helpful because obviously June is a

          5  month we would want to capitalize on to do

          6  aggressive outreach in the lesbian and gay

          7  communities, since there is a lot of -- it being Gay

          8  Pride Month and everything -- a lot of functions, et

          9  cetera.

         10                 As it relates to Hepatitis A, and B

         11  and C as well, when you say that numbers are up in

         12  Chelsea and the West Village, for example, is that

         13  numbers being up of people who went to Calan Lourdes

         14  or Leona Bombgartner and therefore characterized as

         15  Chelsea West Village? So, going back to what Council

         16  Member Clarke said, it is possible that her

         17  constituents may have gone to one of those

         18  facilities, do they then get counted as Chelsea West

         19  Village, or do they get counted as East Flatbush?

         20                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: The rates are

         21  actually reported by the Department of Health

         22  through our surveillance system by the zip codes of

         23  the residence of the individual.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay.

         25                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: So, regardless of
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          2  where the individual goes for treatment, it would be

          3  counted in the community that they reside.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay, that

          5  would be great.

          6                 Here you mention a survey that you

          7  conducted. If we could get -- mostly of gay and

          8  bisexual men, popular social venues, if we could get

          9  a copy of the results of that, that would be

         10  interesting, and also a copy of the survey itself.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: Sure. We

         12  are just completing the survey and tabulating the

         13  data and analyzing that, so it will take us a few

         14  more months to come up with the final report, and we

         15  certainly will be sharing it with you once that is

         16  completed.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: While you are

         18  waiting to do it altogether, if I could ask if the

         19  Committee could get a copy just of the instrument

         20  that you are using, and a copy of the social, the

         21  places that you are doing outreach? Because I would

         22  be interested to look at it just to make sure that

         23  the places are diverse enough so you are getting a

         24  good cross section, you know, we might have

         25  suggestions if that would be okay.
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          2                 Also, in the Mayor's proposed budget,

          3  not necessarily in DOH, but some of DOH there is a

          4  proposed cut to HIV/AIDS prevention work, you know,

          5  particularly money given to community-based

          6  organizations.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: It is in the

          8  Department of Health budget.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And then there

         10  is also cuts in HRA too, to AIDS outreach work.

         11                 I am concerned about, it seems to me,

         12  given the testimony clearly indicates that we want

         13  to be doing more hepatitis outreach and education,

         14  that doing it not exclusively but in conjunction

         15  with AIDS-based community organizations who are

         16  doing HIV and AIDS outreach to diverse communities

         17  would be a good way to start, an easy way to get

         18  things expanded. So, it seems counter-intuitive that

         19  we would be cutting back on these prevention funds,

         20  and I would like to know how that will impact your

         21  efforts on this and whether therefore there will be

         22  less community outreach and education, or is there

         23  another pot of money that I am not aware of that is

         24  going to go in, specifically for there to be

         25  hepatitis outreach as opposed to the previously
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          2  funded AIDS and HIV prevention outreach?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I am waiting.

          4                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I appreciate the

          5  Councilperson's comment, and I know we are coming

          6  back to talk about the budget in full elaboration

          7  and we really are prepared to talk about hepatitis

          8  today.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: But my question

         10  has --

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I appreciate that

         12  you are raising a concern about --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: That's fair, but

         14  then I just want to put on the plate, as I just said

         15  to you and I just gave to you, I am convinced now

         16  why there is a real need to do similarly what I did

         17  when I was Chairman of the Youth Services Committee,

         18  in creating an interagency coordinating council

         19  which brought all of the youth services components,

         20  I want my colleagues to know that I have a pending

         21  legislation that will be introduced this coming

         22  session because I am convinced that we need

         23  coordination between the Department of Health, the

         24  Department of Mental Health, the Health and

         25  Hospitals Corporation, the Chief Medical Examiner,
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          2  you name it, and I want you to know, Commissioner,

          3  then you are just reinforcing the reason why we

          4  should have an interagency council on health

          5  services so all of these things can be monitored, so

          6  whether it is in HRA or whether it is in DOH, so

          7  long as it is health-related, there is a check and

          8  balance.

          9                 So, I just want to be clear. So, you

         10  are correct about the budget and I hope that I can

         11  pass the bill, of course even if it is before the

         12  budget, it will take time before it kicks in.

         13                 But I just want to be clear,

         14  Commissioner, that I really believe that in order

         15  for us to get a handle of what we are doing, how we

         16  are doing it and do we need to really expand,

         17  create, you name it, there has to be a coordination

         18  among those providers who provide health services,

         19  and it is not just DOH, HHC and other components,

         20  and I think that is the point.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Is there more

         22  or less -- I am sorry. In the Mayor's proposed

         23  budget, is there an increase or a decrease in

         24  hepatitis outreach money, if that is specific enough

         25  -- just the hepatitis and then I will reraise the
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          2  question of the AIDS intersection so-to-speak in the

          3  budget hearing. But is there an increase or a

          4  decrease?

          5                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: There is an

          6  increase.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And how large

          8  is it?

          9                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: It is 117,000

         10  dollars.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Up from what,

         12  Commissioner? What was it before?

         13                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: There was no

         14  funding that was specifically targeted to Hepatitis

         15  C before.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So that is a new

         17  initiative.

         18                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, it is.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And that is

         20  going to be RFP'd out, that money, the Department is

         21  going to run that program?

         22                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: No, we are going

         23  to be doing it. Because that money is going to allow

         24  us to put forward a public education campaign, as

         25  well as to have increased capacity to test for
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          2  hepatitis C in the Bureau of Laboratories, as well

          3  as to bring on an epidemiologist who will help us

          4  develop a clinical referral. So, these will be all

          5  activities for the Department.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: How did you

          7  come up with that amount? Because it sounds like a

          8  lot of work for $117,000. What helped you determine

          9  that that was the right amount in developing the

         10  budget?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MOJICA: We came

         12  up with anticipated work that we would like to do

         13  and then we place the budget figure against it.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Can you repeat

         15  that? I am sorry, I just couldn't hear.

         16                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: You know,

         17  basically we set out to have a significant expansion

         18  in our capacity to better track the incidence of

         19  Hepatitis C in New York City that we felt we would

         20  need to do more Hepatitis C testing, so we needed to

         21  have some enhancement in our Bureau of Laboratories.

         22                 We knew that we needed to create

         23  better linkage between our testing message with

         24  those health care providers in the community with

         25  whom we can refer people once they are tested and
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          2  might test positive for hepatitis, as well as a

          3  public education campaign.

          4                 But as I said earlier, over the next

          5  several months we will have a better handle on the

          6  full impact of the virus to the public health of New

          7  Yorkers, and we will be in a better position to look

          8  at what other new needs may emerge from that

          9  information.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: May I remind my

         11  colleagues that the Executive Budget hearing on this

         12  agency will take place on May 17th. I suggest that

         13  perhaps we look at the budget that has been

         14  presented to us and these questions should be then

         15  directed at those hearings.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

         18  Oddo.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chairman.

         21                 Mr. Chairman, Commissioner, I

         22  apologize for being so tardy to this hearing. It is

         23  usually a 20 to 30-minute trip to Staten Island, it

         24  took an hour and a half this morning. I think bad

         25  drivers become even worse drivers when there is a
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          2  little rain on the road.

          3                 Commissioner, a few weeks ago this

          4  Committee heard testimony from a representative of

          5  the Hepatitis Foundation International talking about

          6  incidence of hepatitis. One of the risk factors that

          7  individual mentioned was body piercing. And I was

          8  struck by that portion of his testimony because a

          9  week earlier I received a phone call from a frantic

         10  mom who came home to find her 15-year-old daughter

         11  who had her belly button pierced without her

         12  consent.

         13                 A) does the Department have any

         14  information, any statistics about young people

         15  contracting this disease through body piercing?

         16                 And B) the Chairman of this Committee

         17  has a piece of legislation that I fully support that

         18  would require parental consent for minors to get any

         19  portions of their body's pierced; would you be

         20  supportive of that legislation?

         21                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, with

         22  respect to the issue of specifically body piercing,

         23  the CDC does not see in this country a relationship

         24  between body piercing and even tattooing and

         25  transmission of hepatitis C.
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          2                 Now, at the same time, we do issue a

          3  public health message that individuals who would be

          4  seeking tattooing or body piercing consider the

          5  potential health issues associated with receiving

          6  that.

          7                 It is thought that this transmission,

          8  while it is theoretically possible, and is thought

          9  in some instances to more likely to have occurred in

         10  other countries, which are not as concerned with the

         11  public health measures that we address in New York

         12  City, as we regulate these tattoo individuals who

         13  would be given tattoos so that those public health

         14  practices outside of this country may be associated

         15  with transmission of hepatitis.

         16                 We have not seen this in New York at

         17  this time, and the CDC has not posed this as a risk

         18  factor in transmission.

         19                 With regard to the legislation, we

         20  really would have to study it. It is the first time

         21  I have heard of it today and I think it would be

         22  premature for me to draw a conclusion.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And I have

         24  instructed the Counsel to give a copy of that bill

         25  to the Commissioner, so he will be looking at the
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          2  bill.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Fair enough,

          4  Commissioner, in terms of not commenting on the

          5  legislation, but when you say that your Department

          6  hasn't seen a relationship, that implies that you

          7  have looked for it.

          8                 Can you tell me exactly what steps

          9  you have taken to look at this issue?

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Okay, I should

         11  add we have not looked at it, because we have not

         12  had the kind of active surveillance program that

         13  would be necessary to carry out that level of

         14  investigation, and I referred to that earlier.

         15                 We at this point are not able to

         16  distinguish in the reports that we received those

         17  that are describing acute infections from chronic

         18  infections, but at the same time we are going

         19  forward more aggressively to ask physicians to

         20  provide more information about the medical condition

         21  and other laboratory tests of those individuals that

         22  will give us a better handle on which cases are in

         23  fact recent infections and which are chronic

         24  infections.

         25                 I should say it is something that the
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          2  CDC has looked at nationally, and they report that

          3  individuals who may have acquired a hepatitis

          4  infection, if they have had a tattoo, they carry

          5  usually other risk factors as well for transmission,

          6  and I am not aware of any cases where the

          7  transmission has been thought to derive exclusively

          8  from a tattoo or piercing.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: We have been

         10  joined, I am sorry I just turned over and realized

         11  we have been joined by, although not a member of the

         12  Committee, but we appreciate his presence, Council

         13  Member Howard Lasher from Brooklyn.

         14                 Council Member Rivera.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chairman.

         17                 This is I believe the second public

         18  hearing that we have had on this issue. While I

         19  might say that we have been reading about hepatitis

         20  for a number of years, it was not until around 1995

         21  that in one of the -- I come from a borough that

         22  today is known as (in Spanish) the Borough of the

         23  Bronx, where we hold many activities in the

         24  summertime, and in sometime I believe it was '95, I

         25  met this young lady, full of life, who began to
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          2  speak to me about this virus, and about liver

          3  transplant. And I look forward to the testimony

          4  today of this young lady, who is here with us today,

          5  her name is Debbie Delgado Vega, and she founded

          6  back in 1994 an organization called Lola, and I find

          7  it very interesting, Mr. Chairman. And again, I look

          8  forward to hear testimony and for her to share with

          9  all of us why she felt that it was important for her

         10  at a time to lead what could seem like a lonely

         11  campaign, making us in the Latino community familiar

         12  about hepatitis and the affects of leading to a need

         13  for a person to have a liver transplant.

         14                 I find it very interesting, Mr.

         15  Chairman, and I do not know if the question has been

         16  asked, but in the first public hearing we had with

         17  us a representative from the Hepatitis Foundation

         18  International, and as I look today, as we did at

         19  that hearing, as to the numbers that seem to be

         20  increasing around hepatitis, and we understand that

         21  some five or over 5 million people are affected in

         22  this country, and we live in a city that perhaps

         23  accommodates yearly some over 2 million, 3 million,

         24  5 million visitors as tourists, and I find it very

         25  interesting that the representative from this
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          2  organization at one point stated, that someone

          3  visiting a private doctor infected with hepatitis

          4  virus, that doctor might not report it to the Health

          5  Department; I would like to know if that is true?

          6                 Because if I recall, and Counsel can

          7  correct me, if I am wrong, through your Committee,

          8  Mr. Chairman, but that is the statement that I think

          9  this individual made, because if that is the case

         10  then we are talking about perhaps a much higher

         11  number in the City of New York.

         12                 And going back to what our colleague,

         13  and I think our colleague, Council Member Quinn, in

         14  her line of questioning led the Department of Health

         15  to bring out that they feel there is a need to spend

         16  $117,000 when there is no such thing as line item

         17  budget for hepatitis in the City of New York.

         18                 It demonstrates to me that you

         19  recognize that there is a need to get involved in an

         20  awareness campaign. I agree with Council Member

         21  Quinn, look, I am not an expert, so you are in the

         22  best position, to really tell us if $117,000 is just

         23  a drop in the bucket, you know, in what we are

         24  talking about today, in order to do the kind of job

         25  that we need to do.
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          2                 And if this is a beginning, how do

          3  you -- you are involved with health care providers,

          4  but do you work closely with organizations such as

          5  LOLA, which stands for Latino Organization for Liver

          6  Awareness?  Do you help them in any kind of way? Do

          7  you assist them? Does this City recognize them?

          8  Because this organization has led a grassroots

          9  campaign, and mostly in the Bronx. To my

         10  understanding it is in the Bronx, but they made us

         11  aware that one out of 50 Hispanics do have HCV

         12  (sic). And I would like to know if you are not able

         13  to, for whatever the reason, to work closely with

         14  community-based organizations, let us know how we

         15  can help, because there is no such thing as a line

         16  item budget for hepatitis, then can we do something

         17  as members of the City Council, as we begin to

         18  negotiate the budget? I would like to know.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, I

         21  appreciate your concern about the need for the

         22  Health Department to reach out and connect with

         23  community-based organizations.

         24                 In my testimony over the past year I

         25  have been discussing how the Health Department is
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          2  moving toward becoming much more able to align

          3  itself with communities, and be less of a distant

          4  bureaucracy, so that going forward we would always

          5  be looking for new opportunities to establish

          6  partnerships with those community-based

          7  organizations that are really very much a part of

          8  the community and have ways of reaching out to the

          9  community that are more difficult for government to

         10  accomplish, and in fact I know that we did have a

         11  meeting with the local staff and team, and that

         12  going forward we very much would want to set that as

         13  a priority, that our public education efforts would

         14  be partnered with organizations like LOLA that have

         15  relationships and can reach out more into

         16  communities --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Do I hear you

         18  correctly when you say that you are going to reach

         19  out to organizations such as LOLA and that means

         20  that out of the $117,000, you will invest some of

         21  that money directly into the Latino community in the

         22  City of New York, perhaps through LOLA?

         23                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I think that it

         24  is unrealistic to think about spreading $117,000

         25  beyond what I had previously described to be our
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          2  immediate needs to begin to gain more accurate

          3  information about the nature of hepatitis in New

          4  York City and to start to get a better handle on its

          5  particular impact in certain communities.

          6                 So, nevertheless, much of what we are

          7  going to be doing is going to be targeting those

          8  high risk communities and looking at individuals who

          9  will be at highest risk, as well as the geography of

         10  communities that are highest risk, and certainly I

         11  am sure then that we would extend our activities and

         12  ultimately have meaningful partnership with

         13  organizations like LOLA.

         14                 I am not in the position to commit

         15  any funding at this moment because we are still so

         16  early in the game so-to-speak, that we are looking

         17  at being able to build up our infrastructure to have

         18  a much more in-depth understanding of hepatitis as

         19  it is impacting on all of the communities in New

         20  York City.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: How about, I

         22  think I raised the question about the organization

         23  stating here that private doctors not obligated to

         24  report hepatitis infection cases?

         25                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Sure, I
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          2  appreciate your concern. Fortunately, though,

          3  reporting is mandatory for a laboratory, as well as

          4  for physicians, so we received reports from

          5  laboratories who do not I think extend the same --

          6  who are not faced with the same issues that the

          7  health care provider or clinician might be

          8  responding to.

          9                 So, our reports are coming from

         10  laboratories throughout the City and certainly that

         11  physician would have referred that individual for

         12  the testing to a laboratory, so we believe that in

         13  fact we are receiving the reports as we should be.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

         15                 Commissioner, again, I want to ask

         16  you to remember the things that we asked that you

         17  provide us with, particularly the citations, I am

         18  just curious to see what schools.

         19                 I normally, as you know, allow you to

         20  have the last word. I don't see any other colleague

         21  -- oh, I am sorry. All right, last question by

         22  Council Member Quinn.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Hi. In the

         24  testimony you talked about the transmission of some

         25  forms of hepatitis through semen and vaginal fluids,
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          2  and I just wanted to know what the Department's

          3  present protocol is and if it is going to change

          4  relating to the distribution of dental dams, and if

          5  you were in an effort to prevent the spread of

          6  hepatitis through vaginal fluids going to be making

          7  dental dams available to community-based

          8  organizations?

          9                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I would be open

         10  to a follow-up discussion on the issue of providing

         11  dental dams because the Department has been able to

         12  supply and be responsible for condom distribution in

         13  an important manner, in a variety of settings, and

         14  it has been an important initiative for us in the

         15  Health Department over the past decade. So,

         16  specifically given the potential transmission of the

         17  virus through vaginal secretions and the potential

         18  for creating better barrier protection through

         19  dental dams is something that we should take a fresh

         20  look at.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: That would be

         22  great.

         23                 Can I just ask, should I have a

         24  follow-up question about that, do I call your

         25  office, the Office of Legislative Affairs?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            92

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member, I

          3  assure you that Commissioner Neal Cohen, when we

          4  stop asking questions and he goes back, you will be

          5  the first person that they are going to reach out to

          6  meet with, I assure you of that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: No, no. I just

          8  set up a meeting with DOT and I did it wrong, so I

          9  am just trying to make sure I know how to do it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, I am

         11  telling you that Commissioner Neal Cohen will

         12  personally make sure at the request of the chairman,

         13  to have someone directly sit with Council Member

         14  Quinn before this week is over, sir? This is

         15  Tuesday, before Friday you will have somebody

         16  sitting down with her?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Well, we will

         18  see everybody's schedules. I don't want to -- no,

         19  no, we will get together.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

         21                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We will be very

         22  glad to sit down with you, as the Councilperson on

         23  the Committee, as well as somebody who is raising an

         24  issue that we want to take a look at.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: May I also
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          2  suggest that someone from your staff also reach out

          3  to Council Member Oddo from Staten Island. He is

          4  also a new member of this Committee. Maybe you would

          5  like to walk through with him what are the things --

          6  listen, I am trying to defend Staten Island, would

          7  you listen to me at least? I mean, I know you want

          8  to move to Brooklyn, you know, I understand that.

          9                 Anyway, would you also similarly do

         10  for the Council member --

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I will be glad

         12  to. In fact, I had a meeting with Council Member

         13  Oddo before he was a Councilman with Councilman

         14  Fusco --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now he is

         16  different. Now he is in the big leagues.

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I understand. I

         18  shared some information about our efforts in Staten

         19  Island, and I will be pleased to elaborate on that

         20  further.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Commissioner,

         22  thank you for your cooperation when I was a staff

         23  person, and I will reach out to you and to

         24  Legislative Affairs and we will sit down soon.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chairman.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner,

          5  last word, it is always good seeing you.

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Thank you. I

          7  think what I would like to say to put this in

          8  context is that you may or may not know that the CDC

          9  is holding a press conference tomorrow on the

         10  subject of hepatitis C, and they clearly are

         11  responding to the concerns of large numbers of

         12  people with respect to the potential public health

         13  impact of Hepatitis C. We have -- we have seen an

         14  advance of some of the materials that they are going

         15  to be sharing with the public. I am comfortable that

         16  the New York City program that I outlined for you is

         17  moving forward as it should aggressively at this

         18  time so that we are not in a position where we will

         19  limit ourselves solely on surveillance, that is more

         20  passive. We are moving toward a more active level of

         21  surveillance so we will be able to distinguish those

         22  individuals who have more active acute infections

         23  from those who may be chronic carriers and that

         24  would be able, in a much more informed way, to put

         25  in place the necessary primary and secondary
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          2  prevention activities that I anticipate will have a

          3  significant impact on public health in New York City

          4  going forward.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner,

          7  thank you so much. I appreciate it.

          8                 What we are going to do now is have

          9  three persons come up to the table so that we can

         10  try to get everybody to give their presentations. My

         11  counsel will call the names out.

         12                 MR. ORENGO: Dr. Joyce Wallace. Thelma

         13  King Field, and Howard Girsky.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner

         15  Cohen, would you do me a favor? Would you leave

         16  someone behind so they can listen to the testimony

         17  by those who will perhaps testify?

         18                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         20                 Why don't we just identify ourselves

         21  for the record again, and then proceed.

         22                 DR. WALLACE: Dr. Joyce Wallace, I am

         23  the Medical Director of an organization called the

         24  Foundation for Research on Sexually Transmitted

         25  Diseases, known to the people on the street, as From

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            96

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  Our Streets With Dignity.

          3                 Can I present now?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes.

          5                 DR. WALLACE: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: The only thing I

          7  need you to do is, you know, we don't have a

          8  stenographer because it is all now technology, so I

          9  need you to speak directly into the mic, because if

         10  not, it won't pick it up, okay?

         11                 DR. WALLACE: We are one of the

         12  largest street outreach organizations in New York

         13  City, particularly targeting street-walkers. We have

         14  been doing this since 1985. In 1989, when we had our

         15  first large grant, we found that the HIV

         16  seroprevalence among street-walkers was 37.4

         17  percent. In the last year, that is April 1, '98

         18  through March 31st, '99, we found that 49 of 499

         19  street-walkers tested positive for HIV.

         20                 So, therefore, that is about a ten

         21  percent rate. A one-month sampling done previously,

         22  testing everyone we could find in a particular area

         23  where we knew whether they were HIV positive or

         24  negative, shows that the zero-prevalence has dropped

         25  to about 14 percent.
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          2                 We believe that this decrease in HIV

          3  is probably due to our very active condom

          4  distribution and dental dam distribution program,

          5  and we also give out the female vaginal liners so

          6  that women may have something to use with their

          7  continuing sex partner who is often an intravenous

          8  drug user.

          9                 Now, I know you asked me about

         10  Hepatitis C, but Hepatitis C, B and HIV are

         11  integrally linked because they are spread through

         12  the same modes of transmission.

         13                 We have been trying to test for HIV

         14  for some time, and the Department of Health has been

         15  kind enough to do those tests for us during the last

         16  four months.

         17                 During that time, we tested 64 women,

         18  30 were positive for antibodies to Hepatitis C, 30

         19  out of 64. So, that is certainly much higher than

         20  the figure that was presented to you earlier.

         21  Thirty-four are negative for Hepatitis C, and for

         22  Hepatitis B 34 were positive. So the number that was

         23  positive for Hepatitis B is higher than for C.

         24                 But of the number positive for

         25  Hepatitis C, 17 percent were carriers. I think this
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          2  is ominous because it means that these women could

          3  possibly get Hepatitis B and C. However, I would

          4  like to know from Commissioner Cohen, and I guess I

          5  can't find out now, why he mentioned prostitutes as

          6  a source of infection, since there is, that I know

          7  of, no study and no data at all in New York City or

          8  in this country that links Hepatitis C or HIV to

          9  prostitutes. In fact, it is the other way around. It

         10  is a prostitute who is much more likely to become

         11  infected.

         12                 At this point I will digress to tell

         13  you that our data at FROST'D shows that the most

         14  active mode of transmission to prostitutes is by

         15  oral sex, not by vaginal sex, and this is something

         16  that has not been promoted as information by the Gay

         17  Men's Health Crisis and has been promoted somewhat

         18  by the Department of Health.

         19                 Now, of the 64 women we tested, ten

         20  were positive for HIV. We are giving Hepatitis B

         21  vaccine to all women who are Hep B negative, we

         22  receive the vaccine from the Department of Health.

         23                 In the past we found quite a positive

         24  association between Hepatitis B and HIV, and we have

         25  also found an association with homelessness and HIV.
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          2                 We believe when we have more numbers

          3  this may prove to be true.

          4                 I would like to add a few comments

          5  now, just that are not on my sheet, if you don't

          6  mind.

          7                 I believe that we have decreased the

          8  number, we have decreased hepatitis in this City at

          9  new cases, and we have decreased new cases of HIV,

         10  mainly due to use of harm-reduction techniques, and

         11  that we must not stop doing so. We must in fact

         12  increase them. And what I mean by this is we must

         13  increase condom distribution. FROST'D gave out over

         14  a million condoms last year, we are getting fewer

         15  now, however, from the Department of Health. We need

         16  to give out more condoms, we need to exchange more

         17  syringes, we need to make people more aware

         18  continually. We must not stop this campaign.

         19                 A few years ago this City Council had

         20  a resolution before it to make condoms mandatory in

         21  all places of public accommodation. However, the

         22  Council voted against it because of the hotel lobby.

         23                 It would really cost this City next

         24  to nothing to have this law. Why should there not be

         25  condoms in every hotel? Why should there not be
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          2  condoms in every motel, and in every shelter,

          3  whatever sexual activity takes place?

          4                 Every case of AIDS and Hepatitis we

          5  prevent now will save us thousands and thousands and

          6  thousands of dollars down the road, not to mention

          7  the human misery.

          8                 Unfortunately, public health needs

          9  are often at odds with law enforcement, and the

         10  increased campaign of "quality of life" has caused

         11  several things to happen which do not auger well for

         12  HIV prevention.

         13                 For example, the motel on Jerome

         14  Avenue was closed because it was used by so many

         15  prostitutes; however, it was a motel where before

         16  you paid your money you got the condoms.

         17                 There are other ways in which we are

         18  having problems preventing disease, for example, at

         19  Riker's Island and in State prisons, prisoners are

         20  often taken off their medications for over a month

         21  at a time and this causes the resistance strains to

         22  arise and this is going to be a great problem later

         23  on.

         24                 Thank you very much for allowing me

         25  to testify.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

          3                 MS. KING THIEL: Good afternoon,

          4  Chairman Robles, and Councilwoman Clarke   I guess

          5  left. I am Thelma King Thiel, Chairman and Chief

          6  Executive Officer of the Hepatitis Foundation

          7  International. I am sorry I wasn't able to come to

          8  your hearing the last time, I was presenting

          9  testimony in Sacramento, California.

         10                 I am a registered nurse, a health

         11  administrator, but I am also the mother who lost an

         12  infant son at the age of four to a very rare liver

         13  disease, 29 years ago. I have been working at

         14  preventing hepatitis and liver diseases for that

         15  length of time.

         16                 One of the things that I found very

         17  prominent at that point was that most people thought

         18  of the alcoholic that drank too much and got

         19  cirrhosis, but there was no treatment, there were no

         20  transplants, there were no vaccinations and we

         21  really had a real lack of information about the

         22  liver.

         23                 When I looked at the schools, I found

         24  out there was nothing in the schools being taught

         25  about the liver, and how can we expect our children
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          2  to really make healthful lifestyle choices when we

          3  don't really give them basic information from which

          4  they can do that.

          5                 So, I have kind of been, my nom

          6  deplume is the liver lady because I have been going

          7  around the world trying to get people interested in

          8  the liver.

          9                 One of the things that we find when

         10  people find out they have hepatitis and they call

         11  our hot line, they are concerned because they don't

         12  have a clue as to what this means to them. They

         13  don't realize that their liver is their internal

         14  chemical power plant, and when this virus attacks

         15  the liver, it is killing off liver cells that are

         16  really the employees in their own power plant, and

         17  as that continues to happen, this is called

         18  cirrhosis, by the way, as that continues to happen,

         19  fewer and fewer healthy cells are left to do the job

         20  the 5,000 functions that the liver has to do every

         21  day to keep us healthy, alive and alert.

         22                 That basic information is so

         23  important to everyone so that they can understand

         24  why it is important to prevent these diseases. I was

         25  hearing a lot about, you really got the course in
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          2  101 on Hepatitis this morning, and I don't want to

          3  repeat any of that, but I think that we have to

          4  really get people to understand why they need to

          5  protect themselves and we need to do more education.

          6                 I was invited, and CDC had

          7  recommended when you were doing an immunization

          8  program here in Chinatown, to come over and help

          9  with the education. I said, well, I don't speak

         10  Chinese but I will talk to your teachers.

         11                 Well, I had an opportunity to do a

         12  presentation for about 15 minutes at lunchtime,

         13  which wasn't an ideal situation, by the time I

         14  finished telling them a few things about what their

         15  liver did to them, for them and why it was so

         16  important, the first thing that they asked was, can

         17  we get vaccinated ourselves? And I think we need

         18  that information.

         19                 We have been trying to encourage

         20  people to get vaccinated and to participate in

         21  prevention activity, when they don't really have an

         22  understanding of how important this is to their own

         23  health.

         24                 The immunization program, that was

         25  one of them. Another one I believe that you were
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          2  involved in was with the Albert Einstein medical

          3  students and, again, we came over, we educated them,

          4  we gave them communication techniques, motivational

          5  techniques to really get people to understand why

          6  this is so important to prevent these diseases.

          7                 I do a great deal of college lectures

          8  and I am always testing to find out what is

          9  effective in getting people to understand.

         10                 I asked the young adults, if they saw

         11  a robber on the front lawn with a mask on and a crow

         12  bar would they ask him in to smash their food

         13  processor, their pantry, their garbage disposal,

         14  their stove and then go in and smash their toilets

         15  because they live in that house? The answer is no.

         16  And I said, well, when you are inviting a virus to

         17  come in, whether it is an IV needle, body piercing,

         18  tattooing or under the covers, you are inviting that

         19  virus to come in and to ruin your food processor,

         20  your garbage disposal, your pantry, to give them

         21  some idea that they have a responsibility for taking

         22  care of themselves, and I think this has been

         23  lacking in a lot of our information.

         24                 One of the things that kept coming up

         25  this morning that I think really needs to be
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          2  clarified is some of the problems that we are having

          3  in identifying the disease, the CDC is having the

          4  same problem with the body piercing and tattooing.

          5  People don't show any signs or symptoms for many

          6  years after they are infected. The liver is a

          7  non-complaining organ, and that is why they can't

          8  pinpoint it. With Hepatitis C there are very, very

          9  few acute cases, and of course it is the acute cases

         10  that have to be reported to the Health Department,

         11  not the chronic cases, and it is chronic cases that

         12  we are dealing with, this estimated 3.9 million that

         13  is out there that is supposedly affected. Hepatitis

         14  C is a very slowly progressing disease that may take

         15  20 years to develop cirrhosis and 30 years to

         16  develop cancer of the liver, but there seems to be a

         17  lot of scare tactics out there at this point trying

         18  to frighten people, get them in to be screened.

         19                 I think it is more important to give

         20  them basic information on what the risk factors are,

         21  have they ever used needles, even once, ten, 15, 20

         22  years ago? Have they ever snorted coke, and of

         23  course, again, it is not the snorting of the coke,

         24  it is the passing of the straw from one nostril to

         25  another nostril that transmits the disease. These
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          2  are the risk factors that people have to assess into

          3  their own activities so that they know when they

          4  need to be screened, because otherwise they are

          5  walking around, they feel perfectly well, and they

          6  may not have any signs.

          7                 How to identify those people who are

          8  going to advance more rapidly? We know that the

          9  large percentage of the transplants that are being

         10  done right now are on hepatitis C, but those people

         11  that are having those transplants also have alcohol

         12  problems, and alcohol accelerates the disease

         13  process in hepatitis C. So, one of the first

         14  messages that we should get out to anyone that

         15  thinks that they may have hepatitis C or knows that

         16  they have hepatitis C, is to stop drinking because

         17  that is going to slow down the disease process.

         18                 They also need, number two, to know

         19  how to protect their loved ones, that this is in the

         20  blood, that anything that has blood on it, and it

         21  was mentioned, razors, toothbrushes, things like

         22  that, family products, personal products in the

         23  home, to help us control these diseases until we can

         24  get better treatment.

         25                 The current combined therapy costs
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          2  about $8,600 for six months of treatment and it is

          3  only effective in maybe less than 40 percent of the

          4  cases. Many people have time on their side. The new

          5  resurgence in identifying who is going to move ahead

          6  more rapidly seems to be the fibrosis. Cirrhosis is

          7  the scar tissue that forms when the liver cell is

          8  damaged. A precursor to that is called fibrosis, and

          9  there are four different stages.

         10                 If a person hasn't even reached the

         11  stage of fibrosis, they may not even need to be

         12  treated at this point. Or if they are early

         13  fibrosis, again, they have time on their side, and

         14  there is a great deal of research going on at this

         15  point so that we should have better, more effective

         16  treatments coming down the pike. And the good news

         17  is, I just got it the other day, that the NIH has

         18  just identified nine Hepatitis C centers in the

         19  country that will be doing an eight year study on

         20  the treatment of Hepatitis C, so we will have better

         21  answers coming down the line.

         22                 Not too long ago I was in New York

         23  here. I was invited in by the Federation of School

         24  Nurses to do a presentation, to give them the

         25  communication techniques that they need. And I
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          2  believe last time you had a hearing, that you saw

          3  the videos that we had developed with the Centers

          4  For Disease Control grant. I brought you one today,

          5  we just had it done in Spanish, and of course I have

          6  worked very closely with LOLA organization, as a

          7  matter in fact, Debbie and I go way back and I

          8  helped her get off the ground with her organization,

          9  and we will gladly share this with her because this

         10  is an award winning video and it is a motivational

         11  thing. We know we are getting people to change their

         12  behavior.

         13                 The treatment is expensive, it's down

         14  the line, the research is going to take many years,

         15  but we could have an impact today if we really get

         16  busy with our education.

         17                 So, what I would suggest is that we

         18  try to do more teacher training, give them the tools

         19  that they need and, again, we have developed these

         20  marvelous tools, and we have just been getting

         21  evaluations back on this, and the teachers are

         22  saying this is just what we need. We don't have much

         23  time, and you know I know that nurses are just

         24  coming back into the elementary schools, elementary

         25  school teachers are not taught to teach health. The
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          2  school nurses have very limited time, but if we can

          3  get quick, easy effective messages into those

          4  schools and through the teachers using

          5  intermediaries, we can then have an impact on

          6  getting these kids to know what they should avoid,

          7  and that is the bottom line.

          8                 I think if I live long enough I would

          9  love to see health education in elementary schools,

         10  but I don't think I am going to live that long.

         11                 But we have a golden opportunity here

         12  to support the vaccination program. We need to have

         13  parental consent. When we found that the schools

         14  were having trouble getting the parents to sign the

         15  consent forms for Hepatitis B vaccination for

         16  children, we developed a little booklet that could

         17  go home with the consent form so that the parents

         18  were then educated, so they understood why this was

         19  important.

         20                 And of course, Hepatitis A, we all

         21  know there is a very simple way to prevent Hepatitis

         22  A, and that is washing your hands after you go to

         23  the bathroom, because this is a virus that is in

         24  feces.

         25                 You go into many of your schools, you
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          2  find they don't even have soap in the bathrooms. We

          3  have got to teach our kids to take care of

          4  themselves, and that has got to start at an early

          5  age when they really are impressionable and we can

          6  have a major impact.

          7                 We have been working very closely

          8  with the STD clinics in developing materials for

          9  those people, working also with the co-infected

         10  through NDRI, which is one of the major

         11  organizations here in New York that is involved with

         12  the AIDS community, and, again, training some of

         13  their staff people to know how to get effective

         14  messages across on the prevention of hepatitis is

         15  critical.

         16                 I think we have tried to hit many

         17  major areas, and again, one of the concerns I think

         18  you mentioned earlier was about the vaccinations for

         19  Hepatitis B this would be. After one injection you

         20  get 50 percent protection, after two you get 80

         21  percent protection and the third dose you get 100

         22  percent protection, but that can be given at another

         23  time. So, even if you are only going to get one or

         24  two doses of the vaccine into your children, you are

         25  providing some protection for them.
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          2                 Unfortunately, parents who have

          3  children that are infected with Hepatitis B or C are

          4  not telling the schools because they don't want

          5  their children to be ostracized like Ryan White was

          6  with the AIDS epidemic, and that is happening.

          7                 So that kids are going to school that

          8  have Hepatitis B and one of the analogies that I

          9  use, in one teaspoon of blood there are five to ten

         10  particles of the AIDS virus, compared to 500 million

         11  of the hepatitis B virus, which one do you think you

         12  are going to be more apt to catch if you come in

         13  contact with infected blood?

         14                 We have got to get that message to

         15  children, to teachers so that they can protect

         16  themselves, until we can get mass immunization of

         17  our children for hepatitis B.

         18                 I am going to stop there because I

         19  have given you the recommendations, written

         20  recommendations, but I think that we would like very

         21  much, we have cooperated with the Health Department,

         22  we would like very much to work more closely with

         23  you because we have developed effective techniques

         24  and I think the partnership that we can develop will

         25  be very, very helpful to bring this disease under

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            112

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  control.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

          4  much. I appreciate it.

          5                 Sir.

          6                 MR. GIRSKY: Good afternoon. My name

          7  is Howard Girsky. I am a staff writer with the

          8  Queens Courier newspaper, and I am here today to

          9  call your attention to a cover story in our

         10  newspaper this past week, and what it does is call

         11  attention to the fact that there is a serious

         12  epidemic-like condition in Queens.

         13                 We conducted interviews with several

         14  hepatologists, liver specialists there, they point

         15  out to us that there is an overwhelming number of

         16  Hepatitis C infections, and these are routed in the

         17  ethnic communities in Queens. As a matter of fact,

         18  the problem areas are Corona, where South-Americans

         19  live, in Richmond Hill where a large number of

         20  Guyanese live, and also in Forest Hills where there

         21  is a large Russian community, and of course in

         22  Flushing where there are Asians.

         23                 As you know, this condition started

         24  maybe 15 or 20 years ago when these folks were in

         25  their original country. What happened is apparently
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          2  they received injections, maybe a B-12 shot or

          3  whatever, with a dirty needle and as a result that

          4  infection began to develop. It is like a ticking

          5  timebomb because now it has exploded, because if you

          6  check with the hepatologist in Queens, you will find

          7  that their offices are overflowing.

          8                 What we are saying in our article,

          9  based on the word we have gotten from the doctors is

         10  that there are thousands of cases of Hepatitis C in

         11  Queens, and what I like to do now is to briefly read

         12  into the record an editorial that appeared in this

         13  week's paper on this subject.

         14                 The headline is a Queens Hepatitis

         15  Scare: What is Needed Next? Queens rightfully prides

         16  itself on its ethnic diversity, the rich source of

         17  our cultural and intellectual strength, but as

         18  today's Queens Courier exclusive story relates,

         19  ethnic diversity has its downside.

         20                 Medical specialists that the

         21  Borough's ethnic communities are in the middle of a

         22  serious outbreak of hepatitis, a life-threatening

         23  disease that in some form is highly communicable.

         24  The epidemic is rooted to the homelands of recent

         25  immigrants to Queens from Russia, Asia, the Middle
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          2  East and South America.

          3                 As physicians tell us, these

          4  individuals were inoculated there with dirty needles

          5  as they received vaccines or blood tests. Now, ten

          6  to 15 years after the inoculations, these new

          7  arrivals to Queens are in the grip of this fierce

          8  worldwide epidemic, it is one that poses a threat to

          9  all of us. Called by epidemiologists "the sleeping

         10  giant", the disease is prevalent in Queens in two

         11  forms, B and C.

         12                 Hepatitis B, a highly contagious

         13  disease, has hit adolescents in Queens with

         14  particular severity. Like AIDS, this disease is

         15  spread through sexual contact, putting it on the

         16  list of venereal diseases.

         17                 Another form of the disease,

         18  Hepatitis C, is found in Richmond Hill, Forest

         19  Hills, Regal Park, Flushing and Corona, communities

         20  that are home to Guyanese, Russians, Asians and

         21  South-Americans.

         22                 Today 4 million Americans are

         23  believed to be infected with Hepatitis C, the

         24  disease responsible for about 8,000 to 10,000 deaths

         25  each year.
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          2                 There is no effective treatment for

          3  the disease, it is just the leading cause of liver

          4  transplantation.

          5                 One Russian-American specialist

          6  practicing in Forest Hills reports that Russian

          7  immigrants in such central Queens communities, as

          8  Forest Hills and Regal Park, are suffering end-stage

          9  liver disease and require transplants. He points out

         10  few livers are available in area hospitals.

         11                 Another specialist reports an

         12  increasingly sicker ethnic population, and has

         13  called for more measures to reach this at-risk

         14  group.

         15                 These specialists interviewed by the

         16  Queens Courier say that a public health menace

         17  exists in Queens, they have called for action by

         18  State and City health authorities to prevent further

         19  spread of the disease.

         20                 Our inquiry into the situation

         21  reveals that little has been done by government

         22  agencies to stop this epidemic from spreading. The

         23  highest priority should be given to screening

         24  immigrants to see if they are infected by this

         25  disease.
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          2                 In addition, anyone who has had a

          3  blood transfusion prior to 1992 should be examined

          4  to see if they are free of the hepatitis microbe.

          5  That is because prior to 1992, the US blood supply

          6  was not adequately screened for impurities that

          7  could lead to hepatitis.

          8                 Vaccinations of targeted individuals

          9  in the ethnic communities, including adolescents in

         10  our high schools should be undertaken. Students need

         11  to know that unprotected sex is the main reason for

         12  Hepatitis B spread.

         13                 Liver specialists in Queens confront

         14  this hepatitis epidemic every day and are urging the

         15  City Health Department to screen high-risk cases in

         16  Queens ethnic communities, so that these

         17  unsuspecting patients can receive treatments.

         18                 The grim situation is further

         19  complicated by the fact that the symptoms of

         20  hepatitis are not plainly evident. There are fatigue

         21  and malaise, which is associated with any one of

         22  dozens of medical conditions.

         23                 Although the City Health Department

         24  has administered doses of Hepatitis B vaccine in our

         25  schools, much more needs to be done to halt the
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          2  invasion of this infectious disease.

          3                 According to Dr. Mary Jean Creek, a

          4  world renowned addiction expert, Hepatitis C is the

          5  emergent and preeminent public health problem of the

          6  21st century surpassing HIV.

          7                 Queens is undergoing a silent

          8  epidemic, one that cries out for a swift resolution.

          9                 Thank you very much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 MR. ORENGO: The next three witnesses:

         13  Debbie Vega, Alan Brownstein and Denise Wakeem. How

         14  about Dr. Jana Collins.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: If you can

         16  identify yourself for the record, and then let's

         17  proceed.

         18                 MS. VEGA: Debbie Vega, Debbie Delgado

         19  Vega.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Do you have a

         21  prepared statement?

         22                 MS. VEGA: Yes, I do.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Go ahead.

         24                 MS. VEGA: I would like to thank you

         25  for having me here today.
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          2                 Again, my name is Debbie Delgado Vega

          3  and I am the Founder and Executive Director of the

          4  Latino Organization for Liver Awareness, which we

          5  like to call LOLA. I am also a liver transplant

          6  recipient.

          7                 LOLA was founded in 1994 and is the

          8  first bilingual organization here in New York City

          9  and in the nation educating the underserved

         10  population on the importance of liver disease,

         11  transplantation, organ donation, prevention and

         12  treatment.

         13                 On February 23rd, 1999, the New York

         14  Daily News featured an article on Hepatitis B

         15  epidemic, and Mr. Alan Brownstein, who is right next

         16  to me, of the American Liver Foundation, was quoted

         17  in regards to HCV as a democratic disease affecting

         18  everyone of all races, men, women, and children, and

         19  it mirrors the mainstream America, doctors, lawyers

         20  and teachers.

         21                 While this stands true, I was

         22  extremely concerned because it failed to mention the

         23  communities that are being hit hardest and are most

         24  devastated from HCV epidemic, Hispanics and

         25  African-Americans, who are both twice as likely than
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          2  whites to get this virus.

          3                 Today, according to the latest

          4  national statistics, one out of every 50 Hispanics

          5  has Hepatitis C. If it were not for the fact that

          6  the statistics show Latinos have the highest rate of

          7  organ donors in New York City, yet we are the lowest

          8  percentage of those who ultimately get them,

          9  notwithstanding the recent crisis of organ shortage

         10  in New York City.

         11                 I sort of skipped one of my

         12  paragraphs, and I would like to continue with,

         13  serious issues of poverty and lack of information,

         14  early treatment, as well as work place, particularly

         15  for hospitals and health care workers, make this an

         16  issue of economics access. All too often Hispanics

         17  are being diagnosed too close or right at the end of

         18  this disease when the only alternative is for a

         19  liver transplant.

         20                 Last year I led a major Hepatitis C

         21  grassroots awareness campaign targeting the Bronx,

         22  complete with bilingual posters, materials,

         23  information, media exposure, and by the way,

         24  addressing Councilman Jose Rivera's issue of concern

         25  regarding these budgets that the New York City
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          2  Department of Health has.

          3                 My budget for this particular Bronx

          4  campaign was $150,000 and that went in six months.

          5  That was the printing of materials, the outreach,

          6  the media, two or three staffs, and most of the

          7  individuals the volunteers who are themselves the

          8  very people we are trying to help.

          9                 LOLA received over a thousand calls,

         10  approximately 95 percent of these individuals

         11  indicated they were positive for Hepatitis C.

         12                 LOLA assisted 200 of these

         13  individuals in getting proper care and the cost

         14  effectiveness of treatment. However, our support

         15  groups are still with largest proportions of the

         16  poor and working class Hispanic that are slowly

         17  dying.

         18                 My recent targeting of the prison

         19  system, and visits to Sing Sing, Sullivan and other

         20  correctional facilities where the HCV is exploding

         21  has me convinced that LOLA must start to move more

         22  aggressively in advocacy, legislative and regulatory

         23  process to make the point and meet the needs.

         24                 I was deeply heartened to learn that

         25  the New York City Department of Health is beginning
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          2  to take concrete steps in addressing the problem of

          3  Hepatitis C within the five boroughs of New York

          4  City, and I am hoping that the Department of Health

          5  considers an immediate action plan to start

          6  controlling the spread of this deadly virus.

          7                 New York City's infrastructure

          8  certainly should allow the Department of Health to

          9  utilize its clinics and STD clinics, possibly even

         10  the Health and Hospital Corporation system to begin

         11  the screening and treating of positive HCV patients.

         12                 In terms of prevalence problems

         13  existing in New York City, LOLA's work on HCV in the

         14  Bronx over the past year has led me to believe that

         15  the prevalence of HCV among New Yorkers, and

         16  particularly those in the Latino community may be

         17  higher than previously believed.

         18                 Unfortunately, I am unable to gather

         19  collective data from the New York City Department of

         20  Health, and I am not exactly sure how to handle this

         21  issue.

         22                 Members of the Council, I urge you to

         23  take a hard look into this matter, and determine the

         24  existing DOH report and files on how prevalent this

         25  disease really is in New York City. I trust you will
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          2  agree that data must exist, and if it mirrors my

          3  Bronx data, we need very aggressive plans to stop

          4  the spread of this disease even further.

          5                 Remember, many of the residents who

          6  live and work in New York City are at high risk

          7  populations.

          8                 Today, as opposed to a year ago,

          9  there is no real cost effective treatment for HCV.

         10                 Recently the FDA has approved

         11  combination therapy which offers physicians and

         12  patients a 50 percent response rate, thereby

         13  controlling and potentially eradicating this virus.

         14  There needs to be further studies targeting the

         15  minority population and I plead the Council assist

         16  LOLA in gathering collective data and addressing the

         17  impact and spread of HCV among minorities and all

         18  New Yorkers.

         19                 In this way we can prepare ourselves

         20  on how effective and cost effective treatment can be

         21  delivered to the community.

         22                 Perhaps the most important message I

         23  can take back to my community about this hearing is

         24  that the City Council has recognized everyone's

         25  important issues, and the serious obstacles for
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          2  information, care, treatment, and most importantly,

          3  including organ access, HCV impact on the present

          4  population and most importantly the potential high

          5  spread of HCV epidemic in New York City.

          6                 I would like to thank you in advance

          7  for your consideration and recommendation and

          8  action.

          9                 Thank you very much.

         10                 MR. BROWNSTEIN: Good afternoon. My

         11  name is Alan Brownstein, and I am the president and

         12  CEO of the American Liver Foundation. I am really

         13  delighted that the City Council is tackling the

         14  important issue of chronic hepatitis in New York

         15  City.

         16                 I am also really pleased I am at the

         17  same table with Debbie Delgado Vega, who has

         18  demonstrated incredible commitment to fighting

         19  Hepatitis and liver disease wherever she goes.

         20                 I know Debbie from the time that she

         21  was awaiting her organ transplant and from her

         22  hospital bed she was helping people with needs and

         23  questions in the Hispanic community, and she will

         24  get on a plane any time to help fight this disease

         25  and help people, so it really is a pleasure to be
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          2  here with Debbie.

          3                 The American Liver Foundation is a

          4  national voluntary health organization, and its

          5  mission is to prevent, treat and cure Hepatitis and

          6  other liver diseases through research and education.

          7                 We were founded in 1976 in Cedar

          8  Grove, New Jersey, and moved to our national

          9  headquarters here in New York City just six months

         10  ago.

         11                 ALF has chapters throughout the

         12  nation and our greater New York chapter, which is

         13  currently based on Long Island, will be moving to

         14  New York City in five months.

         15                 The American Liver Foundation

         16  provides information to over 300,000 patients and

         17  over 70,000 physicians, including primary care

         18  practitioners and liver specialists. Our Board of

         19  Directors is made up of scientists, patients and

         20  family members and we receive about 150,000 calls

         21  each year on our hot line and about 4,000 of those

         22  calls come directly from New York City.

         23                 In recent years we have provided $8

         24  million to support hepatitis and liver disease

         25  research.
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          2                 So, again, on behalf of the American

          3  Liver Foundation and our Greater New York Chapter,

          4  we thank you for what you are doing here in

          5  addressing Hepatitis B and C, chronic B and C, which

          6  accounts for 16,000 deaths each year. This was

          7  equivalent to the number of deaths due to AIDS.

          8                 So, first I will address Hepatitis C.

          9  Hepatitis C is an emerging infectious disease. It is

         10  an emerging infectious disease that is one of the

         11  most serious public health problems that New York

         12  City will face as we enter the 21st Century.

         13                 Four million Americans have chronic

         14  Hepatitis C and most don't know it. 158,000 New

         15  Yorkers have Hepatitis C and most don't know it.

         16  These are data that we have synthesized, the

         17  national data that we have synthesized, applying it

         18  to the different population groups in New York City

         19  and this represents 20 percent more than the rest of

         20  the population.

         21                 And as our Health Commissioner

         22  reported earlier this morning, it wouldn't surprise

         23  us if the numbers weren't even much larger. So,

         24  where the general population has 1.8 percent, we

         25  believe that the New York City population is at
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          2  least 2.16 percent of the New York City population.

          3                 There are 10,000 Hepatitis C patients

          4  who will die every year in the United States, in New

          5  York City that is about 400, and that will increase

          6  to 1,200 each year within the next ten to 15 years.

          7                 Hepatitis C, as Debbie pointed out,

          8  and I have said is a democratic disease that affects

          9  everyone. It does mirror mainstream America, it does

         10  mirror doctors, lawyers, even soccer moms. It does

         11  affect everyone, and that is important because we

         12  need to get general messages out to the general

         13  public.

         14                 But at the same time, it is

         15  critically important to recognize that some

         16  populations are more vulnerable to chronic Hepatitis

         17  C than others, and the following are some of the

         18  demographic highlights.

         19                 Overall, it is 1.8 percent, as I

         20  said. Among white Americans, it is 1.5 percent.

         21  Among Hispanic Americans, 2.1 percent,

         22  African-Americans, 3.2 percent. If you look at the

         23  overall population between the ages of 35 and 55, it

         24  is 3.5 percent, nearly one out of every four New

         25  Yorkers between the ages of 35 to 55 have chronic
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          2  Hepatitis C.

          3                 Among US veterans, we just

          4  participated in a study with US veterans and that

          5  number is between 12 and 14 percent nationwide. And

          6  I have provided a table for you that details those

          7  data.

          8                 Also, blood transfusions you have

          9  heard about, and it is very important that we get

         10  the message out to the 300,000 Americans and the

         11  huge number of New Yorkers, who are alive today who

         12  have Hepatitis C as a result of blood transfusions

         13  they have received before 1992. It is of great

         14  importance that while we do so we do not cause undue

         15  alarm because the blood supply with respect to

         16  Hepatitis C, it is virtually free of Hepatitis C

         17  today, it is really before they came up with good

         18  screening techniques in 1992.

         19                 Hepatitis C HIV co-infection was

         20  addressed and needs to be looked at, the prevalence

         21  is very high. I won't get into Hepatitis C in

         22  prisons because that, too, is incredibly high. Data

         23  have shown 40, 50, even more percent in prisons.

         24                 Another key point is that we need to

         25  alert our primary care physicians in New York City
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          2  because there are better ways that they need to know

          3  about the better ways of diagnosing and treating

          4  Hepatitis C as new information emerges.

          5                 And there is good treatment that is

          6  available today. As Debbie pointed out, over 40

          7  percent of patients with Hepatitis C respond

          8  successfully to treatment, and yet, most infected

          9  people are not aware that they have Hepatitis C, and

         10  still there is irreversible liver damage. And then

         11  it is often too late because the damage has occurred

         12  and either it leads to death or the need for a liver

         13  transplant.

         14                 Even for those who do not respond

         15  well to treatment, it is important that they become

         16  identified and diagnosed because there are certain

         17  lifestyle changes that they need to know about, as

         18  someone else reported, and I won't repeat it here,

         19  is alcohol. Having alcohol, if you have Hepatitis C,

         20  is like throwing gasoline onto a fire. So, people

         21  need to know of those risks.

         22                 Similarly, a person with Hepatitis C

         23  must get immunized to protect them against Hepatitis

         24  A and B. Again, if they are not and they contract

         25  one of these viruses, that could be of serious
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          2  consequences.

          3                 The risk factors for Hepatitis C I am

          4  sure were addressed earlier, but I have attached

          5  them in a document that you have in your package

          6  that details them.

          7                 In Hepatitis B there are 128,000 to

          8  320,000 new cases of Hepatitis B each year,

          9  fortunately most of those cases are resolved where

         10  the adult can effectively take care of that.

         11  However, about five to ten percent of the cases lead

         12  to chronic Hepatitis B, leading to 6,000 deaths each

         13  year.

         14                 And, again, the prevalence of chronic

         15  Hepatitis B is three to 400 percent more prevalent

         16  among Chinese and other Asian populations. It is

         17  also higher among African-Americans, and effective

         18  treatments are available, and goodness knows, the

         19  prevention, Hepatitis B vaccination, is a sure

         20  thing, if we could immunize our young people, our

         21  adolescents and young adults.

         22                 I was delighted to read that our

         23  Health Commissioner and the CDC have a pilot project

         24  for eighth graders, for adolescents. That pilot

         25  project clearly needs to be expanded.
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          2                 What we think is needed for New York

          3  City is exactly that, THINK Hepatitis, T-H-I-N-K,

          4  which stands for The Information you Need to Know.

          5  And this is needed to stimulate Hepatitis C

          6  awareness among the following four groups, the

          7  general public. Symptoms are silent. The vast

          8  majority of those infected don't know, we need to

          9  get that information out.

         10                 Patients: Many of those with

         11  Hepatitis C are unaware of treatment and lifestyle

         12  management options that are available to them. We

         13  know from the phone calls we get every single day.

         14                 Primary Care Physician: Again, there

         15  is a great gap that needs to be filled.

         16                 Decision-makers: The decision-makers

         17  such as yourselves, and your counterparts in New

         18  York State government. Decision-makers of the

         19  public, as well as the private sector, managed care

         20  organizations, health insurance and so on.

         21                 We also need to develop and

         22  disseminate educational materials to the general

         23  population, and then in consultation with

         24  organizations represented targeted populations, such

         25  as the Latino Organization for Liver Awareness, to
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          2  develop multi-lingual educational materials targeted

          3  to special populations.

          4                 I have enclosed in my packet that I

          5  have shared with you, copies of cultural profiles

          6  that we developed with New York City-based marketing

          7  firms to help us better communicate Hepatitis

          8  information to different populations. So, we hope

          9  that those profiles may be of assistance to you.

         10                 Also, through the Department of

         11  Health, provide support for outreach initiatives,

         12  directed to special populations, including recent

         13  immigrants as reported about the Queens issues, also

         14  we need to evaluate the prevalence of Hepatitis C in

         15  New York City prisons. There are data that suggests

         16  how high these figures are.

         17                 Further, supportive needle exchange

         18  programs to help reduce chronic Hepatitis C

         19  transmission and outreach efforts to be directed at

         20  New York City-based drug programs.

         21                 We talked about pre-1992 blood

         22  recipients need to be alerted, and a special effort

         23  needs to be directed at keeping the primary care

         24  physicians at all sites of practice, that is public

         25  and private sites, informed about Hepatitis C, its
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          2  risk factors, and information about testing,

          3  diagnosis and treatment.

          4                 We, the American Liver Foundation,

          5  are calling for a public/private partnership. Our

          6  Greater New York Chapter and the national office, we

          7  are prepared to work with you, the City Council, the

          8  Mayor's Office and the Department of Health to help

          9  fight this epidemic in the following ways:

         10                 First, we will at our expense issue

         11  and send by mail a joint ALF New York City

         12  Department of Health notification to all primary

         13  care physicians in New York City, and this is a

         14  one-pager that is simple and to the point, so my

         15  pledge to you is that we are committed to provide

         16  that support at our expense.

         17                 We will assist, as may be requested,

         18  the development of educational materials. Our

         19  Chapter provides support groups in the City and we

         20  will assist in developing additional support groups

         21  for those affected by chronic Hepatitis C or B.

         22                 Our Chapter will assist in developing

         23  educational programs for the public in all five

         24  boroughs, and our chapter has just received special

         25  funding from the American Liver Foundation to
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          2  support a chronic Hepatitis C initiative in Harlem

          3  that will begin within the next two months.

          4                 And, also, some of the most

          5  prestigious medical leaders who serve on the Greater

          6  New York Chapter's Medical Advisory Board, will

          7  assist in whatever ways possible. And, again, anyone

          8  can call us for free information from our hot line,

          9  which is 888 4-HEPABC, anyone in New York City can

         10  call us.

         11                 So, in summary, by far the most

         12  serious problem with chronic hepatitis is that the

         13  vast majority of people who are infected are not

         14  aware that they have it. It is of vital importance

         15  that we find every way possible to generate

         16  awareness about chronic hepatitis, so that the

         17  people can get the information they need to know.

         18  They need to think hepatitis so that they can learn

         19  about the treatment options that are available today

         20  that were not available just a few years ago.

         21                 With this information they may be

         22  able to pursue a course of treatment that will

         23  succeed. If they wait too long and if the disease

         24  progresses beyond a certain point, the treatment

         25  will no longer be possible. At that time, to offer
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          2  the disease will lead to death or the need for liver

          3  transplant.

          4                 So, in closing, the American Liver

          5  Foundation and its Greater New York Chapter, are

          6  prepared to work in partnership with New York City

          7  leaders to help prevent the progression of serious

          8  illness among those who are chronically infected, as

          9  well as preventing the further transmission of

         10  chronic Hepatitis B and C in New York City.

         11                 Thank you, again, for this

         12  opportunity to share our views with you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

         14  much. We appreciate you taking the time to join us.

         15                 We will digest those packets and I

         16  assure you, we will keep you on our mailing list and

         17  wherever we believe you can be very helpful to us as

         18  an institution, we will do so.

         19                 Thank you so much for that.

         20                 MR. BROWNSTEIN: My pleasure.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I do not see any

         22  more speakers, so I am assuming that there is no

         23  other business before us. I know there is another

         24  Committee that is going to be taking over in this

         25  room, so seeing no other business before us, I want
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          2  to thank all of those who have participated, and I

          3  adjourn these hearings.

          4                 Hold on. Council Member Rivera.

          5  Please be brief, because there is a committee who is

          6  supposed to be here at 1:00.

          7                 Council Member Rivera.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Once again,

          9  thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         10                 Very quickly, I just want to welcome

         11  Debbie to this very important hearing. It is

         12  something that she made me aware of this situation

         13  before, a number of years ago. I am very pleased to

         14  hear -- I believe your name is Alan Brownstein?

         15                 MR. BROWNSTEIN: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: That your

         17  organization will be distributing information in the

         18  type of packets to every primary care physician in

         19  the City of New York, so obviously you are taking

         20  this very, very seriously. And it is along the line

         21  of the kind of question that I had asked the

         22  Department of Health, which was based on testimony

         23  that was brought to us during a prior public

         24  hearing, and that is the question about the doctors

         25  out there not sharing information with the Health
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          2  Department, both City and State, and so I welcome

          3  this.

          4                 And I also notice that you will be

          5  concentrating in Harlem. Harlem is made up of two

          6  communities, Spanish-Harlem and African-American

          7  Harlem, so I don't know which part of Harlem.

          8                 The other thing is, very quickly, and

          9  I promised my Chairperson. I notice that in your

         10  percentages, I would like to know, what formula are

         11  you using when you talk about the percentages in the

         12  white African-American and Mexican-American

         13  community? Is that a federal formula or what?

         14  Because we are in a City that Mexican-American is a

         15  growing population. The fact of the matter is that

         16  this is a predominantly Puerto Rican and Dominican,

         17  another Latino city, and I would like to know, do

         18  you have any information?

         19                 I know Debbie has been working very

         20  hard in this City, you know, trying to make us

         21  aware, but percentages in this City of New York, the

         22  Latino percentages, Puerto Rican, Dominican.

         23                 MR. BROWNSTEIN: You are absolutely

         24  correct, that is lacking. So, we just took our best

         25  stab based on Mexican-American data, but it does not
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          2  automatically communicate.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Nationwide you

          4  are talking?

          5                 MR. BROWNSTEIN: Nationwide, that is

          6  correct.

          7                 The national database unfortunately

          8  does not have enough numbers to be statistically

          9  significant to talk about Hispanic, overall the

         10  multiple Spanish communities. So, we don't have

         11  that, and that is needed.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: So maybe at

         13  some point there needs to be an effort to come with

         14  a breakdown, maybe city or state by state?

         15                 MR. BROWNSTEIN: Yes.

         16                 MS. VEGA: Councilman, if I may

         17  intervene. I am sorry, Alan.

         18                 I am also on the Board of Directors

         19  of the New York Organ Donor Network, and this is the

         20  largest procurement center here in New York City.

         21                 But we also, of course, have to work

         22  along with UNOS, which is the United Network for

         23  Organ Sharing, and it wasn't until recently, I would

         24  say about a month ago, that UNOS had been notified

         25  about the fact that basically they knew Hispanics as

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            138

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  being Mexican-American, because that is what the

          3  national data had shown, and I am very proud to say

          4  they finally changed that. Now they are recognizing

          5  that ethnic person who has to be identified from

          6  that Hispanic origin, whether that be Columbian,

          7  Puerto Rican, Dominican, Ecuadorian, whatever it may

          8  be, but they need to identify exactly where this

          9  Hispanic origin is from. Because overall they only

         10  new Mexicans as a national statistic -- as

         11  Hispanics, sorry.

         12                 MR. BROWNSTEIN: And the real problem

         13  is that Hepatitis C has been such a sleepy disease,

         14  because it takes ten, 20, 30 or 40 years before the

         15  damage occurs, so that had not been the resources

         16  given to collecting the data that we need, getting

         17  the information out that we need, so I think that it

         18  is great that now the wake-up call is coming to New

         19  York City with what you are doing, what Debbie is

         20  doing, and we have to keep the momentum up because

         21  we have an opportunity to do something now.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: That is why we

         23  have to work as very closely as we can with our

         24  Chairperson. He is very aggressive.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I must say to
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          2  everybody, whether they were here or not, and I

          3  thank all of you who have come and shared with us

          4  the information, I think the challenge is after I

          5  slam this gavel and that is the end of the hearing,

          6  I think the challenge is which I believe has to be

          7  an ongoing communication by all parties concerned,

          8  if you expect government to address an issue, an

          9  area, which I must say it was this hearing and last

         10  month, and those of us who have been around this

         11  place know that if you expect to address it, getting

         12  to your question about budget and funding, there are

         13  five delegations and you have got to get three of

         14  the five in order to make the list.

         15                 I am happy that even before the

         16  Commissioner came here to testify that they were

         17  listening to the last hearing, so if you notice, it

         18  is the first time I have ever seen this Commissioner

         19  testify with 11 pages of which for the most part

         20  address all of the issues that were raised at the

         21  previous hearing and I commend the agency for now

         22  starting recommendations as you heard, which begins

         23  something new.

         24                 But that is not going to be, it is

         25  not going to happen, unless all of those, not only
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          2  community-based organizations, advocates,

          3  professionals, those of us who not only are on this

          4  Committee, those who are not only on the Committee,

          5  but make up the 51 members of the Council, lest we

          6  start making it a priority, an issue, then I must

          7  tell you that I am not going to sit here and say

          8  that all of a sudden the little Fairy Godmother --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Point of

         10  information, Mr. Chairman.

         11                 Guillermo Linares happens to have

         12  just walked into the room. Councilman Linares. Mr.

         13  Chairman, with all due respect to you, very quickly.

         14                 You mentioned the numbers of the

         15  delegation per borough, we also happen to have a

         16  23-member body black and Latino Caucus whose

         17  co-chair is Guillermo Linares, and we have here

         18  today Debbie Delgado Vega, which for all I know,

         19  might be the only member, the only founder of an

         20  organization, and correct me if I am wrong, both

         21  Debbie and Alan, she might be the only organization

         22  representing minority interests in this City. And if

         23  that is the case, and based on the staggering

         24  numbers that we hear of cases, hepatitis cases both

         25  in the African-American and Latino community, that
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          2  we are some members of 23 body, in a 51 body, we

          3  should also take issues with this. And if need be,

          4  then you know, if there is any money to be

          5  identified that we need to see how we can help not

          6  only LOLA but any organization that provides

          7  services awareness to an African-American Latino

          8  community in this City.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me just

         10  again, for the record, with all due respect, Mr.

         11  Councilman, start again.

         12                 The budget, as it is presented, when

         13  the Preliminary Budget had 5.5 million dollars which

         14  this Committee and this Council put in as a Council

         15  Initiative, it is out of the budget. So, any

         16  initiative that we have done has been because we are

         17  on this side.

         18                 So, I want to be clear, the hearings

         19  on the Health Department, Mental Health, Chief

         20  Medical Examiner, HHC, will be on Monday, May 17th.

         21  I suggest we all do our homework. I suggest that

         22  those who are in attendance have the right to

         23  testify after the hearings, too, the public is. And

         24  I repeat: Everything is possible when you get three

         25  of the five delegations. I must say to you, this has
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          2  not been an issue that has been consistently raised,

          3  and I have been here 15 years, sir, and I have been

          4  on this Committee from the first day I came here,

          5  and I must tell you, while every so often this issue

          6  pops up, when the papers expose it, and after all

          7  the hoopla, then all of a sudden after a month or

          8  two it like disappears.

          9                 This Chair, this Committee, is

         10  prepared to address all health concerns, so long as

         11  26 members of this institution is willing to adopt

         12  the budget.

         13                 In the absence of that, I want to

         14  thank my colleague, Council Member Foster, who was

         15  supposed to have been conducting his Committee as of

         16  1:00, and I want to thank you in person for being

         17  patient.

         18                 But, again, I am prepared to work

         19  with anyone to address these issues. I must say that

         20  after the budget is done, too, communication is very

         21  important, along the budget fiscal year, and not

         22  just come during budget time, cannot appropriate

         23  funds and then I don't see you for the whole 12

         24  months after the budget is passed.

         25                 So, you know, once you sign the
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          2  contract then you can't come down only when there

          3  are cuts.

          4                 So, I want to be clear. I am prepared

          5  to address, and that is why I took over this

          6  Committee, any health issue, but it is a two-way

          7  street, and we must communicate so that everyone

          8  knows when good groups are really struggling, where

          9  they are and what are those struggles so that we

         10  address it correctly.

         11                 Having no more business before us, I

         12  thank you again.

         13                 MS. VEGA: Thank you.

         14                 MR. BROWNSTEIN: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I thank you both

         16  for joining us.

         17                 MS. VEGA: Thank you, Council member.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I adjourn the

         19  Committee's hearings.

         20                 (Hearing concluded at 1:15 p.m.)

         21

         22

         23

         24
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